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About TenneT TSO B.V.
TenneT TSO B.V. (hereafter 'TenneT') is the electricity transmission system operator 
(TSO) with activities in the Netherlands. We are committed to providing a secure and 
reliable supply of electricity, today and in the future, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 

Responsible, engaged and connected
The vast majority of our activities are regulated by the ACM in the Netherlands. We have three regulated tasks: (1) the 

transportation of electricity, (2) system services for maintaining the energy balance, and (3) market facilitation. In addition to 

our core tasks, we are involved in a limited number of so-called non-regulated activities. These either help to ensure that the 

energy market operates smoothly and efficiently, or are ancillary to our regulated activities by making better use of existing 

assets.

We transport electricity

The high-voltage grid is the backbone of the electricity supply system. It is used for the transport of large quantities 

of electricity over long distances. Electricity generated at sea, for instance, is transported via subsea cables and then 

connected to the high-voltage grid. We are a key player in the electricity supply chain. This chain consists of grid operators 

and producers of electricity from both conventional and fast-growing renewable energy sources that feed in to our grid as 

well as large users of electricity.

Because wind farms and power plants are often far away from where electricity is used, we need to carry it over 

large distances without incurring major losses on the way. To achieve this, we transport electricity at very high voltages: 110 

kV and higher.  

 

Our high-voltage grid is connected to regional and local distribution grids managed by a large number of other grid 

companies, so-called distribution system operators (DSOs). It is also connected to large industrial customers and prosumers, 

i.e. energy consumers simultaneously acting as producers. Maps of our onshore and offshore high voltage grid can be found 

on our corporate website.

Maintaining the balance between supply and demand

As electricity is fed into the grid, we need to carefully balance the level of electricity supply with demand. Since electricity 

cannot be stored in large quantities, continuous adjustment of electricity supply and demand is needed in order to ensure 

security of supply. To do this, we have national control centres in the Netherlands, where supply and demand are monitored 

and balanced 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

Market facilitation

Electricity knows no geographical borders, and we believe North West Europe (NWE) is better served by an integrated 

electricity market. As such, we have extensively connected our electricity grid with the countries around us. In doing so, we 

help establish a single market that guarantees a reliable electricity supply at a fair price.

Our mission and strategy
TenneT TSO B.V. is part of the TenneT Group, which operates as TSO in the Netherlands and a large part of Germany. 

TenneT Group's mission as a leading TSO is to create stakeholder value by providing security of electricity supply in the 

markets we serve and by pursuing the development of an integrated and sustainable NWE electricity market.

Following our mission, our overarching strategic goal is to deliver value for our stakeholders. We aim to do this by (i) Securing 

a reliable supply of electricity and facilitating the integration of sustainable energy, (ii) Leading the development of an 

integrated and sustainable NWE electricity market, (iii) Engaging with our stakeholders and (iv) Innovating and adapting our 

business for the future. 
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At the moment of publication of this report, we are working on revising our strategy for the coming years. Our business has 

reached a point where we need to pivot and embark on a new dimension of development and innovation. We arrive at this 

juncture in our 20th year – an ideal moment to take stock, re-energise and challenge ourselves to scale new heights. In the 

Annual Report 2019 we will go into more detail on what this will entail for TenneT.
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Management Board   re-
port
TenneT plays a vital role in society. Our work makes a fundamental difference to the 
people living and working in the areas we serve and involves a wide range of 
stakeholders. These include our shareholder, local communities, our employees, 
regulators, investors, NGOs, politicians, the media, customers, suppliers and other 
European TSOs.

Strategic performance
Our performance in 2018 is split into our strategic performance and our financial performance. Our strategic performance is 

structured following our four strategic goals. 

Secure supply
At TenneT, our mission is clear: to keep the lights on for all the people across the Netherlands. This is what we call ‘security 

of supply’ and it is at the hearth of our business. As electricity is generated to meet consumer needs, we have to make sure 

we can fill gaps in supply when the weather changes. So, if the wind doesn’t blow in one area, we must divert electricity from 

another source to meet demand. This can be energy from wind, but also from fossil fuels or sun.

For us, security of supply is not simply a question of building more lines or laying more cables. It is about integrating all types 

of energy into the system flawlessly – and making sure that society is served with electricity 24/7. Although occasional 

outages will always occur, TenneT is one of the most reliable grid operators in the world.

These included a notable outage in August, in the Tilburg area in the south of the Netherlands, where at least 100,000 

households and hundreds of companies lost power for at least 22 minutes and some up to one hour. Another incident 

occurred in April, in the Amsterdam area. The outage was resolved within a couple of hours, however due to knock-on 

effects at Schiphol, the main airport in the Netherlands, the impact was visible throughout the next day.

Expanding, modernising and future-proofing our grid helps us avoid outages as much as possible. TenneT assesses 

its investments each quarter, adjusting plans and actions as necessary. In 2018 we invested EUR 876 million in expanding 

and maintaining our grid. We can face delays in this important process for example when approval processes take longer 

than expected, or when late delivery of materials puts projects behind schedule. We experienced a notable setback in 

October 2018 when we terminated the Wintrack II contract, involving the construction of new high-voltage pylons running on 

two tracks: Eemshaven-Vierverlaten and Borssele-Rilland. This contract was with Dutch consortium Heijmans Europoles 

B.V. (HEP).

We reached a milestone in 2018 when TenneT’s first offshore transformer platform for the Borssele offshore wind farm 

was successfully installed. The future Borssele grid connection consists of two connections of 1,400 MW, due to go into 

service in 2019 and 2020. Four AC cables will run from the platforms to the mainland, routed via the Western Scheldt river. 

Coming ashore near the existing high-voltage substation at Borssele, they will connect to the substation via underground 

220 kV cables. The onshore Borssele substation will be expanded to create extra room for the transformers required to 

convert the voltage level from 220 kV to 380 kV. The national 380 kV high-voltage grid will then distribute the wind energy to 

households across the country.
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In September, TenneT signed an agreement with Enecogen for the provision of a 'black-start' facility at the Enecogen 

gas station in Rotterdam-Europoort. In the event of a black out, this emergency provision can be used to put the high-

voltage grid back into operation. TenneT now has three such facilities available in the Netherlands, contributing to a stable 

and reliable energy supply.

Looking to the future, when wind and solar generation will account for higher amounts of electricity feeding into the 

grid, TenneT believes that the use of green hydrogen will be an important addition to our energy system. Produced through 

the electrolysis of water by renewable electricity, green hydrogen is carbon-free and is considered alongside other 

renewables in the Dutch Climate and Energy Agreement. As it can be stored, green hydrogen is a flexible controllable energy 

source, which will benefit security of supply.

Engage stakeholders
Talking and listening to our stakeholders is very important to develop understanding and acceptance. That’s why we invest 

heavily in stakeholder dialogues.

Engaging in dialogue with our stakeholders is important to build understanding and acceptance. The best way is to have 

face-to-face meetings. We have visited numerous town hall meetings, discussions and public consultations to explain what 

we stand for and why our projects are necessary.

For example the planning of 380-kV connection between Rilland and Tilburg that will pass over the territory of the 

municipality of Geertruidenberg. For this project, the Geertruidenberg town council was given the opportunity to decide the 

location of the underground cable. During the process, TenneT worked closely with the municipality, engaging local 

residents, landowners, provincial authorities, neighbourhood associations, water boards and nature organisations to find a 

consensus for the route of the cable and, where possible, making decisions together. The community appreciated being 

involved early in the process.

It is also important for us to play our part in the public debate on the energy transition, for example through our 

involvement in the Dutch government’s Climate Tables. This forum was introduced to gain expert insight and advice from key 

players in the energy transition, as the Dutch government strives to meet the CO2 reduction ambitions of the Dutch Climate 

Agreement.

Safety
In addition to investing in dialogue with our stakeholders, we also invest in our safety culture. Safety is a very important value 

for TenneT in everything we do. TenneT sets high standards when it comes to working safely. In our daily work, in our 

processes and in our cooperation with our stakeholders. Together we make a concerted effort to achieve our mission of zero 

harm, which means that safety is our top one priority in every activity that we undertake.

We consider safety to be among the highest priorities for everybody who works for us, whether directly or indirectly. We 

are building a company-wide safety culture, introducing it to new employees, and continuing to reinforce the message on a 

daily basis. An example of this is the Safety Culture Ladder – a NEN (Dutch Standards) certification which allows us to 

assess the safety culture within a company. We request our suppliers to adhere to this standard. We have also launched the 

new Safety Vision 2019-2022, which focuses on Safety Leadership and Project and Maintenance Excellence. Recognising 

that our contractors play a big part in our safety targets, we have encouraged them to take part in safety training through 

initiatives like our Contractor Days events. We have also updated contractual agreements accordingly.

Lead North West European integration
Electricity does not recognise borders – electrons simply flow to the point of least resistance. That is why a seamless 

cross-border energy market makes sense – it is the only way to ensure a secure, sustainable, efficient and cost-effective 

energy supply. This is not a new idea – the integration of the European energy market began many years ago, with the aim of 

creating a single market where gas and electricity can be traded and supplied across national borders, easily and efficiently. 

TenneT was one of the pioneers in this new market model and is the world’s first cross-border grid operator, playing a 

leading role in interconnecting energy markets in North-Western Europe (NWE).
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TenneT has been working to bring the NWE electricity markets closer together since 2006, with the aim of creating a single 

market where electricity can be traded and supplied, easily and efficiently. By connecting our electricity grid with the 

countries around us we physically enable electricity to flow across Europe. With increased interconnection capacity between 

countries, EU-wide rules have become crucial to manage electricity flows. In addition to building and operating the high-

voltage transmission grid, it is also our role to help harmonise the rules and regulations for grid operation and electricity 

trading across national European electricity markets. By doing so we are creating one single fully-functioning integrated 

European electricity market.

With currently three connections between the Netherlands and Germany, one with the United Kingdom, two with 

Belgium, one with Norway and one with Denmark under construction, our grid forms a crucial link in the integrated 

Northwest European electricity system.

A good example of our work to strengthen the cross-border electricity market was recently completed. After years 

of planning, preparing and construction together with Amprion, the Doetinchem-Wesel 380 kV line became fully operational 

in November 2018. This 57 km connection between the Netherlands and Germany can carry up to 1,500 MW of electricity.

In 2018, we continued our construction activities on the COBRAcable together with Energinet.dk. This high-voltage 

direct current (HVDC) sub-sea cable directly connects the grids in the Netherlands and Denmark with a capacity of 700MW. 

In November 2018 a new milestone was reached when the cable was brought ashore in the Netherlands. The cable is 

planned to commence commercial operation in Q3 2019, with an additional capacity to connect to an offshore wind farm at 

a later stage. This project contributes to a sustainable international energy landscape by stabilising electricity prices in 

both countries, while further facilitating European market integration.

Innovate business
In the 20 years since TenneT was formed, we have seen a revolution in the energy market, as renewables have moved from 

niche to mainstream. The coming decades will see even more change, with international co-operation and ground-

breaking innovation required to meet the energy needs of society and the national and international carbon-reduction targets.

The energy transition and the resulting in-flows of wind and solar energy, require radical new thinking. For decades, 

society relied on a relatively simple and linear electricity model, where one power station would serve a large area, with the 

electricity carried over relatively short distances. Today, electricity can be generated in any place, from wind farms far out in 

the North Sea to solar panels on the roofs of home-owners. Feeding this electricity into the grid, balancing its unpredictable 

and fluctuating supply with growing demand, transporting it over longer distances and maintaining affordable electricity 

prices and security of supply, requires radical new thinking and innovative solutions.

And renewable energy is not the only transformational change driving the need for innovation. The rapid development of 

an interconnected cross-border North-West European (NWE) electricity market is another major technological challenge. 

TenneT is leading the way in facilitating this change and helping other TSOs, governments and technology providers build 

the infrastructure and high-tech backbone this model needs to function.

To create a grid that is fit for the future, old market rules and models must be upgraded to unlock modern 

technology options and new players need to step forward to provide previously unforeseen solutions. For TenneT, innovation 

is critical to developing the systems, services and technology. We need to address the changes we face.

External stakeholders and stakeholder engagement, play an important role in our approach to innovation. This includes close 

cooperation with universities, as research and innovation is essential for developing a sustainable energy system of the 

future. In this respect, TenneT has entered into a partnership with TU Delft to develop a new Electrical Sustainable Power 

Lab (ESP Lab).

In the future, decentralised energy sources will become increasingly important to maintain the balance between the 

supply and demand for electricity. To explore this, TenneT is undertaking a pilot project in collaboration with seven market 

parties: Engie, Enova, Escozon & Energie Samen, Next Kraftwerke & Jedlix, Scholt Energy & Enervalis, Sympower and 
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Vandebron. This is a follow-up to a previous collaboration with Vandebron and is using blockchain software to manage 

transactions for electricity demand and supply. To model how electricity can be supplied from a growing number of sources, 

the project partners will apply a software management tool to energy sources including wind, solar, combined heat and 

power (CHP), heating grids, electric cars, electric boilers and electric pumps. During the pilot project, new data 

communication technologies will be tested to enable TenneT and suppliers of flexible generating capacity to exchange the 

required information for balance maintenance purposes.

Internally, TenneT is upgrading its own operating system to manage more complex electricity flows. The Next-Gen operating 

system will be designed to meet the challenges of the more complex energy landscape. In 2018 we conducted a market 

consultation to identify our requirements and potential suppliers, to be followed by a tender process in 2019.

As TenneT plays a leading role in facilitating the evolution of a cross-border electricity market in NWE, new approaches 

must be investigated to connect large scale offshore wind to the onshore grids. This will become even more important as 

wind generation capacity grows in the North Sea, with WindEurope forecasting a planned deployment of up to 70 GW by 

2030. In this context, TenneT’s vision for a North Sea Wind Power Hub, as part of a consortium with Energinet.dk, Gasunie 

and Port of Rotterdam, is a particularly innovation. The concept of one or two hubs located in the North Sea, with 

interconnectors linking to neighbouring countries, would allow the mass-scale harvesting of wind power, delivered under the 

sea and across borders to North Sea bordering countries. Together with external knowledge experts, TenneT and its 

consortium partners are investigating feasible design options, the economic rationale, and the regulatory and market 

requirements for this ambitious international infrastructure.

Financial performance
Monitoring and managing the performance of our business is based on underlying financial information and not on IFRS-

reported financials. Underlying financial information involves the recognition of regulatory receivables and payables, which – 

based on the current regulatory framework – can be recouped or are to be returned through future grid tariffs (see section 2 

of our consolidated financial statements). Under IFRS, reimbursement/settlements through future grid tariffs may not be 

taken into account. As a result, the balance of any expense or income is not recognised as a regulatory asset or a liability 

under IFRS.

In EUR million based on underlying financial information 2018 2017 Change Change in %

Investments in tangible fixed assets 876 736 140 19.0%

Revenue 945 838 107 12.8%

EBIT 121 190 -69 -36.3%

Results
In 2018, revenue increased as a result of significant investments in new assets over the past years. The regulatory regime 

ensures that we are compensated for the depreciation of our investments and that we make a return on the capital invested 

in our regulatory asset base.

Operating expenses increased mainly as a result of rising grid expenses and other gains/losses netted as a result of the 

termination of the contract with Heijmans-Europoles for the design and realisation of Wintrack II.

All in all, underlying EBIT decreased from EUR 190 million in 2017 to EUR 121 million in 2018. The decline in EBIT is due to a 

higher increase in operating expenses compared to the increase in revenue. The revenue effects from the higher grid 

expenses and depreciation did not have an effect on our EBIT. Since a TSO's ability to influence this type of expense is 

limited, the regulatory system allows us to pass the majority of these costs on to our customers through tariffs. These 

reimbursements are part of our revenue, which means that higher grid expenses lead to higher revenues, but do not affect 

our underlying EBIT.

We continue to invest in our grid in order to maintain a high security of supply and to facilitate the energy transition. Capital 

expenditure (capex) totalled EUR 876 million in 2018 and increased by EUR 141 million compared to 2017 (EUR 735 million). 
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The investments mainly increased due to investments in offshore projects in the Netherlands. Capex in 2018 mainly related 

to the following projects under construction: Randstad 380, the Net on Sea and the cross-border interconnectors 

COBRAcable (Netherlands - Denmark).

Financial Outlook
Looking ahead, we face the challenge of realising a very large investment portfolio. For the next ten years, we expect 

our asset base to keep growing, increasing our depreciation and revenues. This growth will also increase our 

operating expenses, as we work to attract more staff, leading to an increase of overhead costs. We plan to compensate for 

this rise through more focus on cost management and operational excellence.

People
In 2018, the average number of full time equivalents increased to 1,337 (2017: 1,254), reflecting the growth of our 

investments. In the coming years our workload to realise offshore connections in the Netherlands will require extra staff. We 

will run a dedicated recruitment program in 2019 to hire internal and external staff.

Risk Management and Internal Control
Risk management and internal control objectives
Risk management and internal control are at the heart of every effective management control system, including TenneT’s. 

With our system, we aim to identify and manage any risks threatening realisation of TenneT’s strategic and operational 

objectives, as well as enhance the control we have over our day-to-day processes.

The key objectives of our risk management and internal control system are to establish:

• Identification and assessment of future events with negative or positive impact on strategic, operational, process and / or 

project objectives

• Creating risk awareness and open corporate culture to address risks and opportunities

• Providing a uniform risk management process and tools to help the organization making decisions based on 

consolidated, timely, relevant and reliable information to ensure efficient priority based resource allocation

• Providing transparency and comfort to the board, internal and external auditor as well as shareholder that they are 

apprised of the most significant risks potentially impacting shareholder value, non-compliance issues and / or increasing 

director and officer's liabiility

TenneT's Enterprise Risk Management and Internal Control Framework are based on the latest COSO model (Committee 

of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission) and are compliant with the requirements of the Dutch Corporate 

Governance Code. 

ERM is clustered in:  

• Strategic risk management

• Operational risk management including risk and portfolio management with respect to asset management

• Project risk management and

• Internal Control (process risk management)



Annual Report 2018 TenneT TSO B.V. 10

Management Board report        Management Board report

TenneT
goals

Department
goals

Process
goals

Project
goals

Vision, mission, strategic planStrategic risk management

Mid-term plan
Operational risk management
(including risk & portfolio 
management)

Process description/
Project plan

Internal control/
Project risk
management

Different levels of goals and ownership face different types of risks which are interrelated

Risk management and internal control

Therefore the following factors to unfold full value of risk management and internal control for the organization are designed 

according to the stakeholder requirements:

Stakeholder
Requirements

Structure

People

Competencies

• Risk competence
• Culture and behavior

• Roles
• Accountabilities
• Rewards & Sanctions

• Policy
• IT-system
• Training & processes

• Strategic objectives
• Operational Targets
• Project Targets
• Process Targets

Key factors of Risk Management Framework
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Risk management as second line of defence function is interlinked with other 2nd line functions like risk transfer, Business 

Control and Project Control as well as third line functions, e.g. Compliance Office and Internal Audit. Twice a year the 

Executive and Supervisory Boards receive an overview of risks on all company levels. These risk reports include the status of 

internal controls as part of the risk management reporting. This provides management with the necessary means to realise 

an effective risk management strategy.

Strategic risk management (SRM)
SRM focusses on future events which may influence strategic objectives in positive or negative ways. The Executive Board 

evaluates the risks as they develop as well as the effectiveness of applicable mitigating actions. TenneT’s strategic risk 

position is shared and discussed with the Supervisory Board and the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

Operational risk management (ORM)
The operational risks affecting the various business units and corporate departments are documented and evaluated to 

assess the adequacy of mitigating actions at least twice a year. TenneT's Risk Management & Internal Control department 

challenges the organization to review its risks and related mitigating actions. TenneT's updated operational risk position 

is part of the Letter of Representation (LoR).

Risk & portfolio management
Furthermore to strengthen the security of supply TenneT’s asset management uses condition monitoring and risk based 

assessments to plan maintenance and investments. Grid constraints are identified by analysing grid components and failures 

and by monitoring the necessary transport capacity. These constraints are assessed according to the risk they pose to 

TenneT’s objectives. Should the risk exceed a predefined level, a measure to mitigate this risk is proposed and included in 

our investment portfolio.

In the Netherlands, the results of these analyses are summarised in our bi-annual Quality and Capacity document, which is 

reviewed by the Dutch regulator. In 2018 TenneT Netherlands achieved the recertification acc. to NTA8102 / ISO55000.

Project risk management (PRM)
To face challenges of the enormous investment portfolio and derived objectives around ten years ago TenneT started to 

implement project risk management, first with a focus on large projects. PRM aims at enhancing the chance of realising 

project goals on time, budget and quality. For all large projects, dedicated project risk managers review and manage risks 

together with project leads systematically within the quality and uniformity standards safeguarding by corporate risk 

management.

Other Risk Management activities
Risk Management process is more and more integrated in day to day decision making processes. For example in 

management and board decision submissions, risks and alternatives have to be named and assessed.

TenneT introduced Lean Management to work on the efficiency of processes. Those improvement projects follow the DMAIC 

steps. In the “Definition” phase as well as “Improve” phase risks have to be identified and assessed. Certified green belts and 

black belt ensure the quality.

Internal control (IC)
Our internal control framework is designed to support and safeguard the realisation of our process objectives, as well as fulfil 

our legal obligations and establish the reliability of our internal and external reporting. To assess the effectiveness of this 

framework and identify opportunities for improvement, a control self-assessment is performed by control owners and 

validated by management twice a year. Risk Management & Internal Control performs quality assessments on the outcomes. 

Internal Audit checks randomly selected self-assessments during the year to form an independent opinion. The outcomes of 

these control self-assessments are direct input for the Letter of Representation procedure. Identified issues are reported to 

Risk Management & Internal Control, which monitors and follows up on mitigating steps with the relevant business owners. 

Overall control effectiveness is reported in our State of Risk report.
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Focus of our framework is continuing to gradually shift from a core finance perspective towards a business objective driven 

approach with the inclusion of core business- and additionally non-financial reporting processes.

Compliance and integrity
TenneT provides all parties with guaranteed, non-discriminatory access to our transmission grid. Preventing potential fraud, 

bribery & corruption is part of our compliance & integrity system. Detecting potential breaches is part of all our internal audits 

and compliance & integrity investigations. Guidance in the form of corporate policies (i.e. Supplier Code of Conduct, Policy 

on Gifts & Hospitality, Whistleblowing Policy, Conflict of Interest Policy and Investigation Policy), effective communication and 

training sessions on compliance & integrity awareness help to protect TenneT, our employees and the society against 

economic and reputational harm.

As part of our compliance management system - besides the presence of a Compliance & Integrity Officer - TenneT has set 

up a compliance & integrity committee that deals with compliance and integrity issues, comprising members from relevant 

functions (Risk Management & Internal Control, Internal Audit, Corporate Safety & Security, Human Resources Corporate, 

trusted counsellors and Compliance & Integrity officers). The objective of our Compliance & Integrity Committee is to share 

company information on compliance and integrity risks detected by the above mentioned officers and/or departments, raise 

awareness about these risks and remediate these by taking action on the detected risks. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 

2018, TenneT has initiated a project to align the existing compliance management system with the ISO 19600, a best 

practice for international Compliance Management Systems. 

TenneT also has an external committee that deals with sexual harassment, a whistleblowing policy and a procedure for 

internal and external compliance and integrity issues. Employees can report any concerns confidentially to either a trusted 

counsellor or a compliance & integrity officer, and if the concerns relate to sexual harassment or violence, they can report 

them to the committee dealing with sexual harassment. 

To assure compliance with financial regulatory obligations (MiFID II, MAR), TenneT has finalised legal assessments, updated 

its publication and disclosure protocol and insider trading regulations, which prohibit any form of trading with inside 

information. Furthermore, the insider trading list has been updated and the Corporate Supplier Code of Conduct has been 

updated.

No fraud and integrity, bribery nor corruption breaches with material impact were identified by TenneT in 2018. Material 

impact is defined in our risk matrix by a severe breach that has a significant adverse effect on TenneT's reputation and/or 

financial position. 

With respect to compliance, a renewed building decision is in place, which refers to the NEN 8700 with stricter requirements 

regarding some foundations of TenneT's existing pylons. TenneT is liaising with the authorities whether it is fair that these 

strict requirements, which seem to be there for buildings and bridges, should apply to TenneT's pylons. Furthermore, TenneT 

has the obligation to store strategic reserve capacity components to comply with art. 16, section 1q of the Dutch Electricity 

Act in order to protect the grid from external influences. Some of these components have been ordered. For others a tender 

procedure will be initiated in 2019 to ensure compliance.

In last year's annual report we have reported an environmental incident related to SF6 leakage emissions. Actions to repair 

the leakage have been performed in 2018. No response has been received yet of the relevant authorities.

Risk appetite
Risk appetite can be defined as the extent to which deviations are deemed acceptable in achieving goals. TenneT's risk 

appetite has been set by the Executive Board for each of our strategic goals. In terms of the level of risk that we are willing to 

accept in relation to our strategic goals, we differentiate between the following categories: risk averse (low risk appetite), risk 

neutral (medium risk appetite) and risk-taking (high risk appetite). The following graph summarises risk appetite and trends 

on risks and opportunities assessed by the Executive Board.
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Strategic goal Goal description
Risk Appetite Risk

Trend
- + - +

Opportunities
Trend

Risk appetite and trend score

Engage
stakeholders

 
Engage with our stakeholder at all levels 
employees, sharholders, regulators, 
policymakers, customers, suppliers  
and local communities

Lead NWE
integration

Lead the development of an integrated  
and sustainable nort-west European  
electricity market

Innovate
business

Innovate and adapt the business to  
anticipate the energy transition

Secure reliable supply of electricity and 
Secure 
supply

facilitate the integration of sustainable  
energy sources

Key risks
We categorise our risks according to the four types of risk defined by the COSO II model: strategic, regulatory, operational, 

reporting and compliance. TenneT's financial risks are presented separately in notes 6.7 of the financial statements.

Strategic risks

Security of supply

Most relevant risks regarding security of supply are related to the ageing of infrastructure assets, resource constraints in the 

supply chain, scarcity of qualified personnel, uncertainty in energy markets and politics and terror/cyber-attacks. However, 

there are also opportunities, particularly in the use of digitalisation and the development of new technologies. The likelihood 

of unplanned outages increases as TenneT’s infrastructure assets grow older. The growing share of renewable electricity can 

also add to the risk of outages; as wind or solar-generated energy is less predictable, it is more challenging to shut down 

parts of the grid to perform maintenance works. To mitigate this risk, additional resources are made available for 

maintenance works and we are increasing the efficiency and flexibility of our maintenance programme by monitoring and 

simplifying internal processes.

In today’s cross-border energy market, security of supply is enhanced by the interconnectivity of the European transmission 

grid, from Portugal to Turkey and from Scandinavia to Italy. However, misalignment in the energy policies of individual 

European countries – such as stalling plans to invest in nuclear power, stopping the development of coal or lignite plants, or 

increasing the development of renewables – have a significant impact on the entire European grid. As such, the challenge of 

dealing with European grid issues becomes more of a daily occurrence, especially as the further integration of renewables 

and lower availability of conventional power production increases the likelihood of critical situations. This is particularly true 

during autumn and winter. This requires international alignment of political targets. TenneT works towards this by engaging in 

and providing transparency in political discussions.

Technology can also play a crucial role in mitigating risks around security of supply. In particular, TenneT sees an opportunity 

in using digitalisation to improve the utilisation of the grid, without increasing black-out risks. To this end, we are exploring the 

potential of big data to improve our capacity to predict the weather and assess levels of consumer demand. Sophisticated 

data analytics can also help us determine the condition of our assets and reduce demand on the grid at peak times by 
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connecting decentralised batteries together (so-called “peak shaving”). Owning, or at least having real-time access to, 

specific data while complying with the requirements of the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) certainly presents 

risks for TSOs. It also means high requirements for IT skills and capacity, requiring data to be processed in real time.

The possibility of a severe outage resulting from terror or cyber-attack is taken very seriously within TenneT. We expect a 

severe attack more likely by governmental or non-state cyberterrorists, acting in political interests; then by “usual” computer 

fraud crime. Hence, a successful attack cannot be fully ruled-out, despite continuous cyber risk prevention. Nevertheless, 

implemented physical and digital prevention measures are continuously assessed, optimized and tested. Additionally, 

business continuity plans to react on crisis situations were implemented. Security contingency plans are developed, aligned 

and carried-out together with national authorities. 

Engage stakeholders

As the energy transition gathers pace, there is a growing need for better external communication to explain its effects on 

society transparently. If there is a perceived lack of transparency, there is a risk of high dissatisfaction with TSOs, with 

consequential reputational damage, or financial loss in the form of lower investment or reduced cost reimbursements by 

ACM. To mitigate this risk, TenneT takes a leading role in stakeholder engagement, explaining its decisions to communities 

affected by its work, while also opening the door to discuss alternatives. As part of this, TenneT also takes into account 

alternatives outside the TSO business, e.g. sector coupling. Those alternatives have the potential to significantly reduce 

investments.

Lead NWE Integration

As a result of increasingly uncertain power production and power flows, caused by the rapidly increasing amount of 

renewable energy flowing into the European grid, there is a growing need for more cross-country power balancing and 

concerted system operation. TenneT is well prepared to take a leading role in the further integration of national markets and 

developments. For instance, TenneT operates and builds interconnectors, increases border capacities and is currently 

heading ENTSO-E.

Innovate Business

It is clear that technological innovation plays an essential role in achieving the energy transition. Although innovations abound 

in the energy sector, there are currently no decisive breakthroughs that will simultaneously guarantee security of supply, 

affordability for society and competitiveness of industry prices. It is not clear which technological developments hold the 

most promise; most likely it will be a mix of digitalisation, big data, market and price models, sector coupling, new types of 

cables, lines and other assets to transmit energy.

As new technologies are introduced, whether in physical assets or software solutions, there could be an increased risk of 

outages caused by malfunctioning. As such, TenneT demands high quality standards from its suppliers and service 

providers. As an additional measure, TenneT builds test procedures, test periods and guarantee periods into its project 

planning and supplier contracts.

In a highly dynamic market, there is some risk attached to the emergence of new players who may either over-reach 

themselves, fail or go out of business. To avoid a consequential lack of support or (spare) parts, TenneT assesses the 

financial stability of suppliers and prescribes a long-term availability of parts and services as one of its contractual pre-

conditions.

On the other hand, digitalisation can also be an opportunity, helping to reduce costs and achieve a secure energy transition. 

However, that comes with high requirements, not only regarding data security, but especially for information management 

and human resources in the fields of designing, developing, maintaining and operating the systems. Therefore, TenneT 

continuously develops its IT capabilities, enhancing its organisation, training employees and reviewing the performance of IT 

service providers.

Regulatory risks

The following table details TenneT's most important regulatory risks.
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Regulatory risk Risk-mitigating actions

• Inability by TenneT to meet exacerbating efficiency targets imposed 
by incentive regulation. Especially taking into account a strongly 
growing company and the need of investments in innovation.

• TenneT performs regular reviews of processes and organiza-
tional structure and introduced lean management. Addition-
ally, TenneT scrutinizes the results of efficiency audit by the 
regulators and disputes or starts litigation, if needed.

• TenneT is not able to achieve a reasonable return on its invested 
capital as the return allowed by the regulator is set at a too low level 
because of low interest rates.

• In general, the ACM continued to use the existing approach 
for the regulatory period of 2017-2021. TenneT has started 
legal proceedings as it disagrees with certain items of ACM's 
decision. The CBb court decided that the ACM should repair 
its decision. The repair is pending early 2019.

• Inability to meet the regulatory budget on operational expenditures 
for procuring energy and ancillary services, such as grid losses and 
re-dispatch costs.

• ACM amended this part of the regulation, exposing TenneT 
to the full price and volume risk of this cost element. TenneT 
started legal proceedings at the CBb court and the CBb 
decided that the ACM should repair its decision. As a result, 
the ACM confirmed that it will re-install the bonus/malus 
regime of the previous regulatory period.

• ACM has, together with the Council of European Energy Regulators, 
initiated a new international TSO benchmark exercise to measure the 
efficiency on capital and operational expenditures of European TSOs. 
The benchmark exercise runs during 2018/2019.

• TenneT proactively participates in the benchmark. TenneT will 
advocate to the ACM to prudently apply the benchmark 
results within the regulatory framework for the next regulatory 
period. The ACM confirmed that it intends to account for the 
additional costs of Wintrack towers in a separate national run 
of the benchmark.

Operational risks

The following table details TenneT's most important operational risks. 
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Operational risk Risk mitigating actions

• Gap between planned and realized maintenance and preservation. 
Risk of deterioration of the condition of the grid in the long term.

• Risk-based maintenance and preservation planning in 
alignment with the commissioning dates for large projects.

• Substation-driven replacement strategy.

• Insufficient or inconsistent availability of adequate resources – staff, 
material and services.

• Strategic personnel planning and development.

• Further integration of external service providers (e.g. via 
EPCm).

• Employer Branding.

• Strategic procurement planning.

• Bundling of order processes, e.g. pooling of order for multiple 
projects.

• Development and qualification of new supplier (markets).

• Increased utilization of warehousing capacities.

• Monitoring and quality assurance of supplier and service 
provider performance.

• Insolvency of suppliers. • Monitoring of supplier credit rating.

• Early transfer of ownership.

• Request of guarantees and performance & warranty bonds.

• Work-related incidents and accidents that may harm the health and 
well-being of our own employees and the employees of contractors, 
that work for TenneT.

• Implementation Life Saving Rules and improved approach on 
incident investigation.

• Further development of and certification on the Safety Culture 
Ladder.

• SHE requirements integrated in supplier and service 
contracts.

• Risk of not realizing efficiency targets set by regulator. • Development of a procurement strategy reflecting the 
regulatory framework.

• Utilization of lean management in all business areas to enable 
continuous improvement.

• Unavailability of ancillary services due to mothballing of conventional 
power.

• Extension of standards for the market integration of 
renewable energies and (pools of) small generation plants 
and integration of approved plants.

• Development of crowd balancing opportunities.

• Petition the regulator to veto the decommissioning of system-
relevant power plants in Germany.

• Implement assets to safeguard grid stability  and sufficient 
black-start capacities.

Reporting risks 

The following table presents TenneT's most important reporting risks. 

Reporting risk Risk-mitigating actions

• Financial statements do not give a true and fair view of the com-
pany's financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  
Financial statements are not compliant with applicable laws and 
regulations.

• Internal control framework, including control self-assess-
ments and Letter of Representation procedure.

• Training of personnel.

• Verification of compliance with legal requirements and 
auditing standards by external auditor and Internal Audit.

• Incorrect (regulatory) reports or information to ACM and/or tax 
authorities.

• Internal and external audit review and follow-up on findings.

• Use of internal accounting manuals, position papers and data 
analytics.

• Intensive monitoring of internal activities by the Corporate 
Regulation department.
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Compliance risks

The table below presents compliance risks and mitigating actions, grouped according to three areas.

Compliance risk Risk-mitigating actions

General/legal compliance

• Non-compliance with European or national laws and regulations, e.g. 
regarding health, safety and environment, labour, tendering and 
energy markets.

• Actively involve experts from Legal Affairs, Procurement, 
Human Resources, Safety & Security, Regulation, etc. 
Monitoring by Compliance via the LOR procedure.

• Train employees.

• Risk of fraud and/or conflict of interest. • Corporate Gifts & Hospitalities policy.

• Increase cultural awareness via internal communication 
messages and face-to-face training sessions.

• Non-Compliance with Code of Conduct. • Content of the Code of Conduct is performed by all (new) 
employees via written consent.

• Compliance Experts explain the principles in the Code of 
Conduct via training sessions.

• Non-compliance with bilateral agreements between TenneT and 
other TSOs, suppliers, customers, etc.

• Ensure adequate registration of decisions and contracts by 
Legal Affairs and other departments involved.

• Non-compliance with permits and licenses. • Provide regularly training and awareness programs.

Financial compliance

• Non-compliance with  financial and tax laws and legislation • Actively involve experts from Finance & Control, Treasury, Tax 
and Legal departments. Monitoring by Compliance via the 
internal LOR procedure.

• Ensure availability of accounting manuals, treasury statute, 
etc.

• Use internal and external experts as advisors, if and when 
necessary.

• Non-compliance with financing agreements. • Frequent knowledge update by means of training, external 
audit/expert reviews, etc.

Technical compliance

• Non-compliance with electricity laws and technical codes, ENTSO-E 
operational handbook, electrical safety regulations and standards, 
etc.

• Actively involve experts from Asset Management and System 
Operations. Assessments by the technical compliance and 
quality officer. Use of four eye-principles.

• Cooperate with regulatory authorities through the Corporate 
Asset Owner department.

• Involve authorized electrical safety experts and technical 
strategists.

• Technical audits.
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Consolidated financial 
statements
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Notes 2018 2017

Revenue 3.1 804 816

Grid expenses 3.2.1 -433 -298

Personnel expenses 3.2.2 -89 -82

Depreciation and amortisation of assets 4.1, 5.1 -190 -181

Other operating expenses 3.2.3 -86 -78

Other gain/(losses) 4.1 -22 -2

Total operating expenses -820 -641

Share in result of associates and joint ventures 5.2 3 1

Operating (loss)/profit -13 176

Finance income 3.3 14 13

Finance expense 3.4 -31 -29

Finance result -17 -16

Profit before income tax -30 160

Income tax expense 3.5 17 -40

(Loss)/Profit for the year -13 120

Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - -

Total comprehensive income -13 120
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Consolidated statement of financial position
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Assets Notes 2018 2017

Non-current assets

Tangible fixed assets 4.1 4,864 4,215

Intangible assets 5.1 66 51

Joint ventures and associates 5.2 3 1

Other financial assets 5.3 375 655

Total non-current assets 5,308 4,922

Current assets

Inventories 5 6

Account- and other receivables 5.4 438 479

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 71 61

Total current assets 514 546

Total assets 5,822 5,468
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Consolidated statement of financial position
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Equity and liabilities Notes 2018 2017

Total equity 6.1 2,922 2,936

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 6.3 2,189 1,786

Contract liabilities 4.2 263 242

Deferred tax liability 3.5 100 150

Provisions 5.6 16 11

Total non-current liabilities 2,568 2,189

Current liabilities

Provisions 5.6 28 35

Other financial liabilities 5.7 71 61

Account- and other payables 5.5 233 247

Total current liabilities 332 343

Total equity and liabilities 5,822 5,468
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Paid-up and 
called-up 

capital

Share 
premium 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Unappropri-
ated result Total equity

Notes

At 1 January 2017 100 1,380 1,305 31 2,816

Total comprehensive income - - - 120 120

Appropriation remaining prior year result - - 31 -31 -

At 31 December 2017 100 1,380 1,336 120 2,936

Total comprehensive income - - - -13 -13

Transition effect IFRS 9 1.2 - - -1 - -1

Appropriation remaining prior year result - - 120 -120 -

At 31 December 2018 100 1,380 1,455 -13 2,922
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Notes 2018 2017

Operational activities

Operating profit -13 176

Non-cash adjustments to reconcile operating profit to net 
cash flows:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of assets 4.1, 5.1 190 181

Result on disposal of assets 4.1 22 -

Share in profit of joint ventures and associates 5.2 -3 -1

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income 4.2 20 10

Movements in provisions and other assets 5.6 -2 -71

227 119

Working capital adjustments:

(Increase)/decrease in account- and other receivables 5.4 -29 157

(Increase)/decrease in inventory 1 -1

Increase/(decrease) in account- and other payables 5.5 676 255

Increase/(decrease) in current financial liabilities 5.7 10 -5

658 406

Net cash flows from operating activities 872 701

Investing activities

Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets 4.1, 5.1 -876 -722

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 5.2 3 1

Interest received 3.3 11 12

Net cash flows used in investing activities -862 -709

Financing activities

Interest paid 3.4 - -1

Net cash flows from financing activities - -1

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 10 -9

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 6.4 71 61

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 6.4 61 70

10 -9
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
We are continuously improving our financial reporting to make it more relevant 
and understandable to our stakeholders. These financial statements focus on the 
key (financial) topics for 2018. Like last year, the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements have been grouped into seven sections relating to key topics and 
figures from a business perspective. Accounting policies are indicated with i, while 
key assumptions and estimates are identified by using + in front of the header.
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1. BASIS FOR REPORTING
Accounting policies describe our approach to recognising and measuring transactions 
and balance sheet items during the year. Accounting policies including new EU 
endorsed accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, relating to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are described below. This section also 
provides general guidance regarding assumptions, estimates and judgement used in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. A more detailed description 
of accounting policies and significant estimates related to specific reported amounts is 
presented in the respective notes.  
 
Accounting policies which are deemed non-material are not presented in these 
financial statements. We consider an item material if, in our view, it is likely to have an 
impact on the economic decisions of the users of these financial statements. 

1.1 General
TenneT TSO B.V. ("The company" or "TenneT") and its subsidiaries as an electricity transmission system operator (TSO) have 

the principal tasks to provide (1) power transmission services, by constructing and maintaining a robust high-voltage grid 

and (2) system services, by maintaining the balance between supply and demand of electricity 24 hours 7 days a week and 

(3) facilitating the market in order to have a liquid, stable electricity market with prices in line with the surrounding countries. 

These activities are governed by the provisions of relevant legislation in the Netherlands. Regulatory authorities oversee 

TenneT's compliance with these provisions. TenneT Holding B.V. holds the entire issued share capital of TenneT TSO B.V. 

Our head office and legal seat is located in Arnhem, the Netherlands.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorised for issue on 18 February 

2019. For regulatory, risk management and treasury activities TenneT relies on support from corporate departments of 

TenneT Holding B.V. These activities are executed under responsibility of the management board of TenneT TSO B.V.

1.2 Basis for preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, 

and Part 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. The company financial statements for TenneT TSO B.V. have been 

prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern basis presumes 

that TenneT has adequate resources to remain in operation, and that the Management Board intend it to do so, for at least 

one year from the date the financial statements are signed.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments (if 

any) which are measured at fair value. They are presented in euros and all values are rounded to the nearest million (EUR 

000,000), except when otherwise indicated.

Significant new and amended standards adopted  

TenneT has not adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. TenneT is 

applying IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for the first time in 2018. The 

nature and effect of these changes are disclosed below:
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The new IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ introduces a new five-step model to be applied to revenue from 

contracts with customers and provides a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue. Based on an 

assessment encompassing interviews within several internal departments and review of existing contracts, we have 

concluded that the standard has no impact on our financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: 

classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. TenneT has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, with the initial 

application date of 1 January 2018 without restating the comparative financial statements. Under IFRS 9, debt financial 

instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), amortised cost, or fair value through 

other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The classification for financial assets is based on two criteria: TenneT‘s business model for managing the assets; and 

whether the instruments' contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount 

outstanding (the ‘SPPI criterion‘). TenneT's business model involves collecting contractual cash flows. TenneT assessed if 

financial instruments are SPPI. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 

TenneT concluded all financial instruments are SPPI. As a result of the above assessments the measurement of TenneT's 

financial instruments remains unchanged as amortised cost.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed TenneT’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s 

incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. ECL is based on the difference between 

the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that TenneT expects to receive, 

discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. TenneT has applied the simplified approach and records 

lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables. TenneT has determined that, the loss allowance on trade receivables 

increased with EUR 1 million. This effect is accounted for through retained earnings. Further reference is made to the 

statement of changes in equity.

 IFRS standards issued but not yet effective and adopted  

A limited number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations, and annual improvement cycles have 

been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2018. Below we describe the impact of IFRS 16, 

which does have a material impact on our financial statements. Other changes to standards which we expect to have no 

material impact on our financial statements are not further described.  

 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains 

a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form 

of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires 

lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under 

IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal 

computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a 

lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying 

asset during the lease term.  Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability, the 

depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset and impairments if applicable. 

 

Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the 

lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those 

payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 

right-of-use asset. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

 

TenneT plans to adopt IFRS 16 with the modified retrospective approach. TenneT will elect to use the exemptions proposed 

by the standard on lease contracts for which the lease terms ends within 12 months as of the date of initial application, and 

lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value. TenneT elects to measure the right-of-use asset for an amount 

equal to the lease liability, 
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adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of 

financial position immediately before the date of initial application. TenneT elects not to apply IFRS 16 for contracts that were 

not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

 

The estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 is based on assessments undertaken to date. The impact on the financial 

position as at 1 January 2019 is expected to be as follows:

(EUR million) notes

Asset increase 111

Liability increase 111

Retained earnings -

Based on our IFRS 16 leases as of 1 January 2019 the IFRS 16 implementation is expected to have the following impact for 

2019:

(EUR million) notes

Depreciation expense 10

Other operating expense -11

Operating profit 1

Finance costs 1

Income tax expense -

Profit for the year -

Due to the adoption of IFRS 16, TenneT’s operating profit will improve, offset by an increase in interest expense. This is due 

to the change in the accounting for expenses of leases that were classified as operating leases under IAS 17.

1.3 Basis for consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of TenneT TSO B.V. and its subsidiaries as at 31 

December 2018. A list of the legal entities included in the consolidation is included in note 7.3. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, that being the date on which control is obtained, and continue to 

be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the 

same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, transactions, 

unrealised gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions and dividends are eliminated in full in consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If we 

cease to have control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the subsidiary's assets (including goodwill) and liabilities, with any 

non-controlling interest and the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity. Furthermore, the fair value of the 

consideration received, the fair value of any investment retained and any surplus or deficit in profit or loss are recognised. 

Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method, where the purchase price is allocated to the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed on a fair value basis and the remainder recognised as goodwill.

1.4 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 

during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Such estimates are assessed continuously on the basis of previous results and experience, consultations with experts, 

trends, prognoses and other methods which we deem appropriate in each individual case. Significant items containing 

estimates and assumptions are as follows:

/notes-consolidated-financial-statements/7-5-events-after-the-reporting-period#node


Annual Report 2018 TenneT TSO B.V. 27

Notes to the consolidated financial statements      >  Notes consolidated financial statements

Item Note Estimate/assumptions

Tangible fixed assets 4.1 Estimate of remaining useful life

Intangible fixed assets 5.1 Estimate of recoverable amount and remaining useful life

Provision trade receivables 5.4 Estimate of expected credit loss

Grid expense payable 5.5 Estimate of electricity usage and energy prices

Provision for environmental management and decommission-
ing 5.6.1

Estimate of removal costs, removal dates, discount rate 
and price increases in the period leading up to removal

Tariffs related provision 5.6.2 Estimate of electricity usage and number of parties

Other provisions 5.6.3
Financial, actuarial, demographic assumptions and 
probability of cash outflow

1.5 Foreign currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is also the parent company’s and all subsidiaries 

functional currency. 
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2. UNDERLYING FINANCIAL 
REPORTING ANALYSIS
This section sets out the financial performance for the year in accordance with the 
way we manage our business. We measure and assess our performance based on 
underlying financial information, which is explained further below.  
 
We generate our revenue from our regulated operating activities in the Netherlands. 
Therefore close collaboration with our respective regulator to obtain agreements that 
provide reasonable compensation for the risks we face is key to us. Our involvement 
in certain limited non-regulated activities are closely related and ancillary to our core 
tasks. 

2.1 Underlying financial information
Our Executive Board is the chief operating decision-making body of the company (as defined by IFRS 8 ‘Operating 

segments’). Periodically, it monitors the performance of the respective operating segments for the purpose of performance 

management and decision making about resource allocation. The segment performance is based on underlying financial 

information, where EBIT and investments are the key metrics. The definition of EBIT equals operating profit. Performance of 

non-regulated activities is evaluated based on EBIT.

Underlying financial information is based on the principle of recognising regulatory assets and liabilities for all of our regulated 

activities. This implies that amounts resulting from past events and which are allowed to be received or required to be 

returned trough future tariffs are recorded as an asset or liability, respectively (see note 2.2 for further reference). We believe 

that the presentation of underlying financial information leads to a sound, consistent and transparent financial insight into 

past and future business performance.

Our operating segments consist of (i) TSO Netherlands.

For management information purposes, the performance of our regulated activities in the Netherlands and in Germany are 

considered separately into two segments (corresponding to the geographical distribution). This segmentation, based on 

separately applicable regulatory frameworks, is the key determinant for financial management of the business and for 

decision-making on budgets, allocation of resources and financing.

Financing activities (including finance income and expenses) are managed on a Group basis and amounts related thereto are 

not allocated to the segments. Transfer prices between the Netherlands and Germany are set at arm’s length in a manner 

similar to transactions with third parties. These intercompany transactions are eliminated in the consolidation.
2018 2017

(EUR million) Revenue EBIT Investments Assets Liabilities Revenue EBIT Investments Assets Liabilities

TSO Netherlands 945 121 876 6,165 3,646 838 190 736 5,780 3,323

For an analysis of the underlying results see the 'Financial performance' section of our Management Board report.
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2.2 i Accounting policies applied for underlying financial information
Underlying financial information matches the regulatory revenues and expenses in a corresponding reporting period, and 

defers certain income items until used for investments or tariff reductions. 

IFRS
Regulatory 

Deferral Accounts
Underlying

Matching is achieved by recognizing regulatory deferral accounts. The key requirement for the recognition of regulatory 

deferral accounts is that an existing regulatory framework must be in place that permits the future reimbursement or requires 

the future settlement of regulated assets or liabilities, respectively. Consequently, a regulated asset is recognised in 

underlying financial information in respect of permitted reimbursements of current year expenses in future years. Vice versa, 

a regulated liability is recognised in underlying financial information in respect of required settlements (i.e. repayments) of 

current year revenues through future tariffs.

Furthermore, until 2015 some investments were financed via auction receipts resulting from auctioning available capacity on 

cross-border interconnections (see 2.3). The different accounting treatment of the regulatory deferral accounts results in a 

different value of these assets.

2.3 Regulatory deferral accounts: reconciliation to IFRS figures
The difference between the underlying financial information and IFRS reported figures is related to the recognition of 

regulated assets and liabilities, auctions receipts, the measurement of tangible fixed assets and maintenance of energy 

balance. IConsequently, also the aforementioned results in different deferred tax balances in underlying financial 

information compared to IFRS reported figures. No other differences between underlying financial information and IFRS are 

applicable.

Underlying financial information is reconciled to reported IFRS figures as follows:

2018 (EUR million) Revenue EBIT Assets Liabilities

Recovery/
reversal 
period 
(years)

Consolidated underlying information 945 121 6,165 3,646

To be settled in tariffs -255 -256 -123 -1 0 - 5

Auction receipts 96 96 - -555 0 - 8

Investment contributions -10 -10 - -249 0 - 31

Maintenance of the energy balance 28 28 - -41 0 - 1

Difference in tangible fixed assets - 8 -203 - 0 - 31

Effect on deferred tax balances - - -17 100 0 - 31

Consolidated IFRS financial statements 804 -13 5,822 2,900
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2017 (EUR million) Revenue EBIT Assets Liabilities

Recovery/
reversal 

period (years)

Consolidated underlying information 838 190 5,780 3,323

To be settled in tariffs -120 -121 -89 - 0 - 5

Auction receipts 82 82 - -646 0 - 8

Investment contributions -10 -10 - -259 0 - 31

Maintenance of the energy balance 26 26 - -35 0 - 1

Difference in tangible fixed assets - 9 -210 - 0 - 31

Effect on deferred tax balances - - -13 149 0 - 31

Consolidated IFRS financial statements 816 176 5,468 2,532

As the adjustments for reconciling consolidated underlying revenue to consolidated IFRS revenue are the same for the 

reconciliation of EBIT, no further information is shown in this respect in the above tables.

To be settled in tariffs 

Revenue surpluses and deficits resulting from differences between expected (ex ante) and realised (ex post) electricity 

transmission volumes are incorporated in the tariffs of subsequent years. In the underlying financial information, these 

surpluses and deficits are recorded as assets and liabilities, respectively, in the statement of financial position under ‘to be 

settled in tariffs’. The expenses have to be settled in future tariffs in coming years. 

Auction receipts & investment contributions 

Auction receipts result from auctioning the available transmission capacity on cross-border interconnections. These receipts 

are not at our free disposal. In accordance with European law, auction receipts are to be used to invest in additional cross-

border interconnections or to be refunded through tariff reductions. In the Netherlands, we have agreed with our regulator, 

(Autoriteit Consumenten Markt) the ACM to fully utilise auction receipts to reduce future tariffs. The current outstanding 

balance of auction receipts will be refunded via the tariffs over the coming years. 

 

Investments made using auction receipts are classified as investment contributions included under ‘liabilities’. A periodic 

amount equal to the depreciation charges, plus a portion of the operating expenses, is released to the statement of income.

Under IFRS, auction receipts are recognised as revenue when realised.

Maintenance of the energy balance 

As system manager of the high-voltage grid in the Netherlands, we receive funds from performing certain statutory duties, 

such as the maintenance of the energy balance. The proceeds from these activities (i.e. imbalance settlements) may only be 

used after approval by the ACM. Imbalance settlements collected during the year are offset in transmission tariffs in the 

subsequent year. Consequently, these amounts are recorded as a liability in the financial information under IFRS.

Differences in tangible fixed assets 

Differences in tangible fixed assets occur due to the difference in accounting treatment of the regulatory deferral accounts 

and the related cash flows in order to determine the economic useful life and recoverable amount of the assets resulting from 

acquisitions and used for impairment analysis. The difference in asset value is related to the decrease in value of the NorNed 

assets in 2015 (EUR 232 million) due to regulatory changes as recognised under IFRS. The proceeds generated by operating 

the NorNed cable are incorporated in the tariffs.
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3. RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
This section comprises notes related to the revenue, operating expenses and results 
for the year as determined under IFRS. Also an analysis of the income tax for the year 
and its related deferred tax assets and liabilities at year-end are included in this 
section. 

3.1 Revenue
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Connection and transmission services 594 627

Maintenance of energy balance 72 58

Operation of energy exchanges 102 88

Other 36 43

Total 804 816

3.1.1 Connection, transmission and system services

The revenues of TenneT TSO NL are subject to regulation by the Authority Consumer & Market (Autoriteit Consument & 

Markt) (the “ACM”). Revenue from connection and transmission services includes revenue from services rendered to regional 

grid operator and industrial clients. Tariffs for these services are set by the ACM annually. The reported revenues are affected 

by fluctuations in volumes and the effect of settlements in tariffs. The higher revenue in 2017 was the result of a release from 

the provision for system service fees for the amount of EUR 58 million due to expiration of claims which is partially offset in 

2018 by higher revenues for our offshore grid and the effect of higher grid fees in 2018. 

3.1.2 Maintenance of the energy balance

We are responsible to ensure that electricity supply and demand is in balance at all times (i.e. alternating current frequency in 

the power grid must be at 50Hz continuously). If this balance is disrupted, it may result in a power outage or even a black-

out, depending on the length and severity of the imbalance. To ensure this balance, we contract and deploy (among others) 

reserve and emergency capacity to compensate unexpected fluctuations in supply and demand. The proceeds from 

maintaining this energy balance (e.g. imbalance settlements) fluctuate considerably and are refunded through regulated tariffs 

in subsequent years.

3.1.3 Operation of energy exchanges

This amount includes revenues resulting from the auctioning of cross-border (electricity transmission "interconnection") 

capacity.        

3.1.4 i Accounting policy with respect to revenue

Revenue primarily represents the sales value derived from the connection and transmission of electricity together with the 

sales value derived from the provision of other services to customers during the year. Revenue from contracts with 

customers is recognised when control of the services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. 

Revenues are from contracts with a single performance obligation. The assessment of unbilled connection and transmission 

services supplied to customers between the date of the last meter reading and year-end is subject to judgement. This 

assessment is primarily based on expected consumption and weather patterns.
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If revenue received or receivable exceeds the maximum annual amount as determined by the regulator, ACM, an adjustment 

will be made to future tariffs to reflect this over-recovery. Under IFRS, no liability is recognised since this adjustment relates to 

the provision of future services. Similarly, no asset is recognised when a regulator permits increases to be made to future 

tariffs in respect of under-recovery.

3.2 Operating expenses
3.2.1 Grid expenses

(EUR million) 2018 2017

System services 155 58

Connection and transmission services 135 113

Maintenance of energy balance 48 30

Maintaining and operating transmission grids 105 98

Other -10 -1

Total 433 298

System services expenses mainly comprise of the expenses incurred for measures taken to balance demand and supply of 

capacity. In 2018 TenneT is obliged to procure capacity for balancing in the Netherlands as a result of availability 

requirements. This has led to increased system services expenses.    

3.2.2 Personnel expenses

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Salaries 100 94

Social security contributions 11 10

Pension charges other plans 16 14

Other personnel expenses 17 16

Capitalised costs for tangible fixed assets -55 -52

Total 89 82

In 2018, the average workforce amounted to 1,337 FTE's (2017: 1,254 FTE's). 

TenneT has a multi-employer scheme, which is administered by the ABP Pension Fund (ABP) in the Netherlands. The 

pension contribution rate for 2018 was 22.9%. In 2019 we expect to contribute EUR 17 million to the multi-employer 

scheme administered by the ABP. Compared to the total participants in the ABP pension fund, our share in ABP is very 

limited. We are not liable for deficits in the multi-employer plan other than paying higher contributions (i.e. surcharge to the 

contribution rate) to the scheme like other participants.  

 

ABP has indicated that it is unable to provide the kind of company-specific information required by IFRS for defined-benefit 

pension schemes. As such, this scheme is treated as if it was a defined contribution scheme. 

        

Since the financial situation of the ABP pension plan at 31 December 2015 was not adequate, ABP filed a new recovery 

plan, which was approved by De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) during the course of 2016. In accordance with this recovery 

plan, ABP evaluates how recovery is progressing at the start of each year. Progress is measured by means of the policy 

funding ratio at the end of the preceding year. The policy funding ratio is the 12-month moving average of the nominal 

funding ratio. ABP’s policy funding ratio as at 31 December 2018 is 103.8% (2017: 101.5%) and that is above the critical 

coverage rate level under which pensions would have to be reduced. 
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Key management remuneration 

Members of the Executive Board of the parent company are regarded as key management. Aggregate remuneration paid to 

TenneT's Management Board is as follows:

Executive Board (EUR thousand) Fixed Variable Pension cost Total

2018 584 97 99 780

2017 731 - 203 934

Pension remuneration equals (i) the contributions payable to the defined contribution plan for service rendered in the period 

or (ii), for defined benefit plans, the current service cost and, when applicable, past service cost.  Remuneration paid to 

members of the Management Board in respect of supervisory directorships in affiliated entities accrues to the company.

Composition of the Management Board 

TenneT’s Management Board consists of people with diverse experiences, skills and knowledge. TenneT values this diversity 

and believes it contributes positively to the way situations are assessed and decisions are made. TenneT is aware that 

women are currently underrepresented in the Management Board and takes this into account for new appointments by 

making gender one of the assessment criteria and by a focused search for qualified female candidates. When multiple 

qualified candidates are available, the candidate that contributes to a more equal division in gender will in principle be 

preferred. For future appointments, TenneT will continue its current approach and will make serious efforts to comply with the 

gender equality targets as described in the Dutch law and as set by the European Commission, to ensure a more equal 

gender representation in the Management Board by 2020.

i Accounting policy 

Payments to defined contribution plans are charged as an expense in the period to which they relate.

3.2.3 Other operating expenses

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Accommodation and office expenses 28 26

Consultancy expenses 5 5

Hiring of temporary personnel 23 17

Travel and living expenses 6 5

Lease expenses 4 4

Other expenses 20 21

Total 86 78

The other expenses include mainly net operating costs related to projects, contribution and subscription costs and training 

expenses. 

Independent auditor's fees are classified under 'Consultancy expenses'. For 2018 this concerns the fees charged by Ernst & 

Young Accountants LLP regarding assurance services of EUR 397K (2017: EUR 405K).

3.3 Finance income
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Interest from participations 11 11

Interest from shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) 5 1

Other interest income -2 1

Total 14 13
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3.4 Finance expenses
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Interest expenses borrowings shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) 40 36

Capitalised interest on assets under construction -8 -8

Other finance expenses -1 1

Total 31 29

For the effective rate of interest on assets under construction and interest on long-term loans, reference is made to note 4.1 

respectively 6.3.

3.5 Income tax
TenneT TSO B.V. forms a fiscal unity with TenneT Holding B.V. regarding income tax. TenneT TSO B.V. has recognised 

income tax as if the company is solely liable for income tax.

The key components of income tax expense are:

Consolidated income statement (EUR million) 2018 2017

Current income tax charge 33 47

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences -50 -7

Income tax expense reported in the income statement -17 40

The income tax related to temporary differences is related to regular depreciation and amortisation.

In the Netherlands, a statutory corporate income tax rate of 25% applies. Reconciliation between tax expense and the 

accounting profit multiplied by the statutory income tax rate of 25% is as follows:

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Profit before income tax -30 160

Statutory income tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%) -8 40

Effect future tax rate change in the Netherlands -10 -

Adjustments in respect to current and deferred tax of previous years 1 -

At the effective income tax rate of 57% (2016: 25%) -17 40

Deferred tax is presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
Statement of financial 

position Statement of income

(EUR million) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Auction receipts -125 -161 -37 -31

Investment contributions -58 -72 -14 -2

Tariffs to be settled 18 12 -5 33

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 62 68 6 -6

Provisions 3 3 - -1

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) -100 -150

Deferred tax expense/(income) -50 -7
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Movement of the deferred tax position is set out below.

(EUR million) 2018 2017

At 1 January -150 -158

Tax expense during the period recognised in statement of income 50 7

Other - 1

At 31 December -100 -150

The fiscal unity did not have any tax loss carry forwards as of 31 December 2018.

i Accounting policy 

The tax charge for the period is recognised in the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in accordance with the relevant accounting treatment of the related transaction. The tax charge comprises both 

current and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 

paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to calculate these amounts are those enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date in those countries where we operate and generate taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method with respect to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their respective carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is 

settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the 

relevant jurisdictions.

Deferred tax is generally recognised in respect of all temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and any 

unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can 

be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill or an 

asset of liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities must be recognised gross in the statement of financial position unless, the entity has a 

legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets, against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and the 

deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either: the same taxable entity or 

different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets 

and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets 

are expected to be settled or recovered.
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4. GRID INVESTMENTS, OTHER 
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS AND 
RELATED COMMITMENTS
We own a significant physical asset base to operate our transmission grid. To solve 
transmission bottlenecks and ensure grid stability we continue to invest in our 
network. To accommodate expanding renewable energy sources sizable further 
onshore and offshore grid investments are necessary in the upcoming years. This 
section focuses on our tangible fixed assets and related commitments which form the 
backbone of our activities.   

4.1 Tangible fixed assets

(EUR million)
High-voltage 
substations

High-voltage 
connections Other assets

Assets under 
construction Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 1,935 2,192 281 1,014 5,422

Additions - -1 - 729 728

Transfers 208 203 5 -416 -

Disposals -3 - - - -3

At 31 December 2017 2,140 2,394 286 1,327 6,147

Additions - - - 841 841

Transfers 136 223 2 -361 -

Disposals - - - -22 -22

At 31 December 2018 2,276 2,617 288 1,785 6,966

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 791 895 87 - 1,773

Depreciation for the year 69 68 23 - 160

Disposals -1 - - - -1

At 31 December 2017 859 963 110 - 1,932

Depreciation for the year 76 72 22 - 170

Disposals - - - - -

At 31 December 2018 935 1,035 132 - 2,102

Net book value:

At 1 January 2017 1,144 1,297 194 1,014 3,649

At 31 December 2017 1,281 1,431 176 1,327 4,215

At 31 December 2018 1,341 1,582 156 1,785 4,864
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High-voltage substations include onshore and offshore transformers and converter stations. High-voltage connections 

consist of overland and underground connections. Unlike lands for substations, lands surrounding high-voltage pylons and 

cables are generally not owned by TenneT. Other tangible fixed assets consist of office buildings, office ICT equipment and 

other company assets.

TenneT has decided to terminate the Wintrack II contract with Heijmans-Europoles B.V. (HEP). The contracts concern the 

projects South-West 380 kV West and North-West 380 kV, and involve the design and installation of the high-voltage pylons, 

including civil engineering work for the connections. This decision has led to a write-off of assets under construction with an 

impact of EUR 22 million that is presented in other gains/losses.

The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2018 was EUR 8 million (2017: EUR 8 

million). The effective interest rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is 2,2% (2017: 

2.3%). 

i Accounting policy tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are valued at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such 

cost includes the cost of replacing part of the asset and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the 

recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of the asset are required to be replaced at intervals, such parts are 

recognised as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciated accordingly. Likewise, when a major maintenance is 

performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement, if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for 

the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset, if the recognition criteria for a 

provision are met. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis.

An asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or loss 

arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset) is included in the statement of income when the asset is derecognised.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of the tangible fixed 

assets, are added to the cost, until such time that the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. No 

borrowing costs are capitalised where the borrowing costs are directly compensated in the year of construction.

+ Key estimates and assumptions tangible fixed assets

To calculate depreciation amounts, the following useful lives of various asset categories are assumed:
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Estimated useful lives tangible fixed assets Years

Substations

Earthing switches, isolating switches, power cut-out switches 35

Security and control equipment 10

Power transformers 35

Capacitor banks 35

Telecommunications equipment 10

Connections

Pylons/lines 40

Cables (subsea and underground) 40

Other

Office buildings 40

Office IT equipment 3-5

Process automation facilities 5

Other company assets 5-10

Land (and its preparation for building) is not subject to depreciation

Residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of assets are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 

prospectively, if appropriate.

4.2 Contract liabilities
The majority part of the contract liabilities relates to investment contributions received from certain third parties for the 

construction of a new substation, a grid connection or increased connection capacity (EUR 263 million; 2017: EUR 242 

million). 

i Accounting policy 

Contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are 

recognised as revenue when TenneT performs under the contract. At initial recognition contributions received from third 

parties are measured at fair value, presented as contract liabilities (‘investment contributions’) and are subsequently 

recognised as revenue over the related asset’s useful life.

4.3 Commitments and contingencies related to investments
Off-balance sheet rights and obligations related to investments consist of the following categories:

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Off-balance sheet rights

Bank guarantees received 338 298

Total off-balance sheet rights 338 298

Off-balance commitments

Capital commitments 1,148 1,400

Operating lease commitments 130 63

Total off-balance sheet obligations 1,278 1,463

4.3.1 Bank guarantees received

At year-end 2018, TenneT TSO B.V. has received bank guarantees totalling EUR 338 million (2017: EUR 298 million) with 

respect to prepayments in relation to investment projects.
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4.3.2 Capital commitments

At 31 December 2018, external commitments totalling EUR 1,148 million (2017: EUR 1,400 million) had been entered into 

with regard to the purchase of tangible fixed assets. 

TenneT TSO B.V. has entered into commercial ground lease contracts with the owners of the land on, under or over which 

TenneT TSO B.V.'s substations, lines and underground cables are sited of routed. TenneT TSO B.V.'s annual obligation under 

these contracts amounts to EUR 3 million (2017: EUR 3 million). 

4.3.3 Operating lease commitments

We have entered into operating lease commitments for office buildings, ground, telecom and vehicles. In 2018 the operating 

lease expenses amount to EUR 10 million (2017: EUR 12 million). Future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable 

operating leases are as follows:

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Within the next 12 months 11 9

Within 2-5 years 37 24

More than 5 years 82 30

Total 130 63

i Accounting policy 

Leases in which not substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee are classified as operating 

leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement 

of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Leases in which substantially all risks and rewards of 

ownership are transferred to the lessee are classified as financial leases. 
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5. OTHER INVESTED CAPITAL 
INCLUDING WORKING CAPITAL AND 
PROVISIONS
Other invested capital includes intangible assets to support our operations, goodwill 
related to acquired business and working capital. Working capital comprises current 
assets and current liabilities which result from our daily operations (such as trade 
receivables and payables). Our working capital requirements are significantly impacted 
by our grid related accruals and investments. We carry a provision that reflects the 
expected cost to remediate and decommission our assets. Also in the ordinary course 
of our business, we are exposed to several claims from and disputes with third parties. 
We record a provision for these claims and disputes when we expect a future cash 
outflow. 

5.1 Intangible assets

(EUR million) Goodwill Software
Customer 
contracts

Other 
intangible 

assets

Intangible 
assets under 
construction Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 3 148 64 15 - 230

Additions - - - - 7 7

Transfers - 7 - - -7 -

At 31 December 2017 3 155 64 15 - 237

Additions - - - - 35 35

Transfers - 35 - - -35 -

At 31 December 2018 3 190 64 15 - 272

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 - 125 38 2 - 165

Amortisation for the year - 16 5 - - 21

At 31 December 2017 - 141 43 2 - 186

Amortisation for the year - 15 5 - - 20

At 31 December 2018 - 156 48 2 - 206

Net book value:

At 1 January 2017 3 23 26 13 - 65

At 31 December 2017 3 14 21 13 - 51

At 31 December 2018 3 34 16 13 - 66
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At year-end all assets under construction are presented under the tangible fixed assets. When an asset is finalised it is 

determined what part relates to tangible fixed assets and intangible assets. At year-end an amount of approximately EUR 26 

million (2017: EUR 39 million) of the assets under construction relates to the intangible assets.

i Accounting policy 

Intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost on initial recognition. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 

combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 

any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding 

capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenses are reflected in the statement of income in the period in 

which they are incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over TenneT TSO B.V.'s 

interest in the value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the amount of the 

non-controlling interest in the acquiree. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses.

At each reporting date, we assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 

when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable 

amount is the higher end of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the carrying 

amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount.

+ Key estimates and assumptions

Estimated useful lives intangible assets Years

Goodwill Indefinite

Software 3-5

Customer contracts 10-14

Purchased rights to use land 25-45

Other 5-15

Intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, have a fixed useful life as shown above and are amortised over such useful 

life. The useful life is re-assessed each reporting period. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis, as this best 

reflects the use of the asset. 

 

Goodwill is assumed to have an indefinite useful life and is therefore not amortised, but is tested for impairment annually or 

more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate a triggering event, either individually or at the CGU level. The 

assessment of indefinite useful life is reviewed annually. 

 

Impairment testing of goodwill: For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated to each of the CGUs (our operating segments) or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at 

which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 

value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation model is used, if no recent market transactions can be identified. 

        

The impairment calculation is based on detailed projections, which are prepared separately for each of the CGUs to which 

the individual assets are allocated. The projections reflect current regulatory parameters, taking into account expected future 

regulatory developments. Management believes that the resulting cash flows can be determined reliably and that they give 

an appropriate reflection of the CGUs cash flow generating potential.
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5.2 Investments in joint ventures and associates
5.2.1 Joint ventures and associates

We have, directly or indirectly, 50% equity stakes in Reddyn B.V., Tensz B.V. and TeslaN B.V.. These investments are 

classified as joint ventures. In addition TenneT TSO B.V. holds an immaterial investment in Energie Data Services Nederland 

(EDSN) B.V..

In 2018 we received EUR 3 million dividend from its associates and joint ventures (2017: EUR 1 million).

5.2.2 i Accounting policy joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the parties in the arrangement have joint control over the net assets of the joint 

arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 

about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

An associate is an entity in which we have significant influence, but no control. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investor.

Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the 

investment in the joint venture or associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted 

to recognise changes in TenneT's share of net assets of the investment since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the 

associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of income reflects our share of the results of operations of the investment. Any change in other 

comprehensive income of those investors is presented as part of the other comprehensive income. In addition, when there is 

a change recognised directly in the equity of the investment, our share of any change is recognised in the statement of 

changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between us and the investment are eliminated to 

the extent of the interest in the investment. 

When an associate or joint venture makes dividend distributions to us in excess of our carrying amount, a liability is 

recognised if TenneT: 

 (i) is obliged to refund the dividend; 

 (ii) has incurred a legal or constructive obligation; or 

 (iii) made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 In the absence of such obligations, the excess in net profit for the period is recognised. When the associate or joint venture 

subsequently makes profits, this is only recognised when they exceed the excess cash distributions recognised in net profit 

plus any previously unrecognised losses.

After application of the equity method, we determine whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on our 

investment in the joint venture or associate. At each reporting date, we determine whether there is objective evidence that 

the investment is impaired. If such evidence exists, the amount of impairment is calculated as the excess of the carrying 

value of the investment over its recoverable amount and recognised in the statement of income.

On loss of significant influence over the joint venture/associate, any retained investment is valued at fair value. Any difference 

between the carrying amount of the investment on loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment 

and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the statement of income.

5.3 Other financial assets
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Amounts due from the shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) - 280

Amounts due from other related parties 375 375

Total 375 655
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The Foundation for the Management of Allocated Funds form the National High-Voltage Grid (hereafter: 'The Foundation') 

holds a 10% investment in TenneT GmbH & Co. KG recognised at fair value. In order to protect the allocated funds and to 

ensure their immediate availability upon request from the Dutch regulator a put- and a call option have been emitted at 25 

February 2010. The call option with an exercise price of EUR 375 million and a maturity period of ten years entitles TenneT 

Holding B.V. to acquire the investment from 'The Foundation'. The put option has an exercise price of EUR 375 million and a 

maturity period of ten years and requires TenneT Orange B.V. to buy the investment for 'The Foundation' upon offer. The 

obligation of TenneT Orange B.V. is largely covered by means of a guarantee issued by the Dutch government.  

The fair value of the participation amounts to EUR 408 million; the fair values of the options are minus EUR 33 million for the 

call option and nil for the put option. 

 

Details on the amounts due from the shareholder are included in note 6.1.

5.4 Account- and other receivables
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Trade receivables 71 76

Amounts to be invoiced 36 31

Amounts due from the shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) 280 350

Amounts due from other related parties 14 6

VAT receivable 7 -

Interest receivable 1 1

Other 29 15

Total 438 479

Receivable from shareholder reflects our contractual right to receive the cash consideration following the 2016 capital 

commitment. The EUR 350 million receivable from 2017 was settled in 2018. The EUR 280 million is due in 2019 and was 

presented under non-current other financial assets in 2017.

5.4.1 Trade receivables

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:
Past due but not impaired

(EUR million) Total

Neither past 
due nor 
impaired 0-30 days 31-60 days

More than 60 
days

2018 71 55 1 1 14

2017 76 65 - 3 8

Changes in the bad debt provision are as follows:

(EUR million) 2018 2017

At 1 January 5 5

Charge for the year 9 2

Unused amounts reversed -3 -1

At 31 December 11 6

As at 31 December 2018, receivables with an initial value of EUR 1 million (2017: EUR 1 million) were fully provided for.
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5.5 Account- and other payables
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Account payables 52 55

Grid expenses payable 43 34

Social securities and other taxes payable 7 7

Payables to other related parties 15 21

Other payables 116 130

Total 233 247

Other payables mainly comprise  of personnel payables (EUR 16 million, 2017: EUR 16 million), accruals for which invoices 

are not yet received (EUR 48 million, 2017: EUR 38 million) and investment related payables (EUR 21 million, 2017: EUR 38 

million).

5.6 Provisions
2018 2017

(EUR million) Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Environmental and decommissioning 7 2 9 10 2 12

Tariffs related 14 - 14 22 - 22

Other 7 14 21 3 9 12

Total 28 16 44 35 11 46

(EUR million)

Environmental 
management 

and decommis-
sioning Tariffs related Other Total

At 1 January 2017 8 93 17 118

Addition 10 6 1 17

Utilisation -1 -19 -4 -24

Unused amounts reversed -5 -58 -2 -65

At 31 December 2017 12 22 12 46

Addition 2 2 5 9

Utilisation -3 -3 -1 -7

Changes in estimations - - 5 5

Unused amounts reversed -2 -7 - -9

At 31 December 2018 9 14 21 44

5.6.1 Provisions for environmental management and decommissioning

Provisions for environmental management and decommissioning serves to cover future obligations in relation to high-voltage 

connections and underground cables, and to cover the decommissioning costs. In 2018 the discount rate for the 

decommissioning provision is 2.2% (2017: 2.2%). 

5.6.2 Tariffs related provisions

Tariff-related provisions mainly relate to provisions for system service fees. We charge electricity consumers a fee for system 

services performed. Following a change in law, the court in the Netherlands concluded that only parties with a direct 

connection to a grid maintained by a TSO are required to pay system service fees for the period prior to 31 December 2014. 

Consequently, we are required to refund certain amounts to parties without a direct grid connection. These refunds can be 

recouped through future tariffs. In 2018 EUR 3 million of the provided amount was paid out to consumers. 
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The exact amount to be repaid for system services fees is uncertain and depends on such factors as the electricity usage of 

the relevant party in the past, the legal expiring date and the nature and legal structure of each individual party.

5.6.3 Other provisions

The majority of the other provisions relate to legal claims and to personnel provisions. TenneT has future liabilities under the 

Collective Labour Agreement involving the payment of salary-related bonuses to long-serving and retiring employees on their 

retirement date. The size of the associated provision has been calculated on the basis of actuarial principles. The main 

assumptions made in this context concern the annual salary increase of 3.0% (2017: 1.0%) in the Netherlands, leave chance 

of 5% (2017: 6%), an age-dependent retention rate and a discount rate of 2.2% (2017: 2.0%).

5.6.4 i Accounting policy provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is (i) a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, (ii) it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and (iii) when the amount can be 

reliably estimated. The provisions are measured at the present value of estimated cash flows to settle the obligation, based 

on expected price levels. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. 

The interest unwinding is recognised in the statement of income as a finance cost. 

 

       The estimated future costs are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in estimated future costs and 

discount rates for decommissioning costs are recognised as changes in estimations in the tangible fixed assets. For all other 

provisions changes in estimated future costs and discount rates are recognised in the statement of income.

5.6.5 + Key estimates and assumptions provisions

The estimated decommissioning provision involves assessing the expected remaining useful life and assessing the expected 

amount of the relevant asset. 

 

       The recorded provisions reflect our best estimate of the probable outflow of resources. However, uncertainty about the 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of these 

provisions in future periods.

5.7 Other current financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities relate to collateral securities given by third parties to underwrite trading on energy exchanges and the 

auctioning of cross-border interconnection capacity.
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6. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND 
FINANCING
To keep pace with the rising consumption, the need for more capacity and shift in 
production areas, we must invest substantially in upgrading and expanding our high-
voltage grid. Therefore a solid financial reputation is needed to maintain good access 
to the financial markets to fund the necessary investments in our infrastructure. This 
section focuses on financing and the related risks. 

6.1 Equity
6.1.1 Equity attributable to owners of the company

Paid-up and called-up capital 

The Company’s authorised share capital amounts to EUR 500 million (2017: EUR 500million), divided into one million shares 

of EUR 500 each. Of these shares, two hundred thousand shares have been issued and paid-up.

Share premium reserve 

The share premium reserve consists of the capital contribution granted by the shareholder of ordinary shares, the Dutch 

State represented by the Ministry of Finance. In December 2016 the Dutch State formally agreed to contribute up to EUR 

1.19 billion of additional equity over the period 2017-2020 to finance TenneT's Dutch onshore- and offshore investment 

portfolio. The first tranche of EUR 150 million was received early March 2017. In 2018, TenneT received the second tranche 

of EUR 350 million. The third tranche of EUR 280 million will be made available in 2019. The final tranche of EUR 410 million 

in 2020 is conditional and will only be granted after further consideration of the financial situation of TenneT at that time       .

Unappropriated result and dividend distribution 

The profit for 2018 is at the free disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

6.2 Ratios
TenneT TSO B.V. is required by law, specifically the 'Besluit Financieel Beheer Netbeheerder' ('BFBN') to disclose information 

regarding the following (solvency) ratios at the end of every year:

The performance of TenneT with respect to the criteria stipulated in the BFBN is significantly affected by the fact that TenneT 

does not recognise regulatory assets and liabilities for its regulated activities in its financial statements in accordance to IFRS 

as accepted by the European Union. To ensure a sound, consistent and transparent financial insight into past and future 

business developments we report underlying financial information in our financial statements (refer to note 2 for further 

information).

Underlying financial information is based on the principle of recognising regulatory assets and liabilities for all of our regulated 

activities. This implies that amounts resulting from past events and which are allowed or required to be settled in future tariffs 

are recorded as an asset or liability, respectively. We believe that the presentation of underlying financial information leads to 

a sound, consistent and transparent financial insight into past and future business developments. Consequently, we also 

decided to disclose the BFBN ratios based on underlying accounting as of 2017 and 2018.
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IFRS Underlying

ratio Requirement 2018 2017 2018 2017

A ≥ 1.7 -0.3 4.9 3.0 4.5

B ≥ 2.5 5.7 8.1 7.6 8.5

C ≥ 11% 7% 11% 9% 12%

D ≤ 70% 44% 41% 55% 53%

The above mentioned ratios are calculated as follows: 

 

A:    operating profit divided by the gross finance expenses on loans 

B:   the sum of net profit, depreciation, amortisation, deferred taxes, other non monetary costs (movement provisions) and 

gross finance expenses divided by the gross finance expenses 

C:   the sum of net profit, depreciation, amortisation, deferred taxes, other non-monetary costs divided by the total liabilities. 

The total liabilities are adjusted for investment contributions and collateral securities. 

D:   the total liabilities divided by the sum of total liabilities and equity including minority interest and preference shares

TenneT did not meet the ratio requirements for ratio A and C based on IFRS figures. In such instances article 18a paragraph 

4 of the Electricity Act 1998 stipulates the following implications;

• TenneT sends the Authority Consumer and Markets a written notification;

• Within four weeks after the notification TenneT sets up a recovery plan describing the manner in which improvement of 

financial management will be realised and sends this plan to the Authority Consumer and Markets;

• TenneT is not allowed to distribute dividends to the shareholder.
IFRS UND

(EUR million) Notes 2018 2018

Ratio A

Operating profit -13 121

Gross finance expenses 3.4 40 41

Total -0.3 3.0

Ratio B

net profit before taxes, depreciation, amortisation, deferred taxes, other non monetary costs and 
gross finance expenses 229 313

Gross finance expenses 3.4 40 41

Total 5.7 7.6

Ratio C

net profit before taxes, depreciation, amortisation, deferred taxes and other non monetary costs, 
minus investment contributions and collateral securities 189 272

Total liabilities 2,567 3,022

Total 7% 9%

Ratio D

Total liabilities 2,567 3,022

Total liabilities and equity 5,822 5,543

Total 44% 55%
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6.3 Borrowings

(EUR million)
Effective 

interest rate Maturity
Redemption 

schedule 2018 2017

Loan from shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) 2.30% Dec-26 At maturity 2,114 1,711

Loan from related party 5.16% Feb-20 At maturity 75 75

Non-current interest-bearing loans 2,189 1,786

TenneT TSO B.V. is financed through TenneT Holding B.V. As per 31 December 2018 the principal amount of the finance 

facility between TenneT Holding B.V. and TenneT TSO B.V. amounted to EUR 2,189 million (2017: EUR 1,786 million); a 

maximum facility has not been agreed upon. The facility matures after 10 years and is automatically extended every year for 

another year, unless agreed upon otherwise. The conditions include a cross default clause. The effective interest rate is equal 

to the cost of fund of TenneT Holding B.V. with a surcharge of +0.125%. TenneT had no other credit facilities as at 31 

December 2018 (2017: nil). 

 

For more information about the fair value and applicable accounting policy, see note 6.5 and 6.6, respectively.

Changes in our borrowings arising from our financing activities are as follows:

6.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of collateral securities, short-term bank deposits and cash at bank (excluding bank 

overdrafts) and can be broken down as follows:
2018 2017

(EUR million)
Not at free 
disposal Total

Not at free 
disposal Total

Collateral securities 71 71 61 61

Total cash and cash equivalents used in cash flow statement 71 71 61 61

i Accounting policy 

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, deposits held at call with 

banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of three months or less and are presented net of 

outstanding bank overdrafts. Securities are deposits on collaterals that serve as financial security for auction and energy 

exchange transactions. A matching debt is recognised to the party that deposited the funds on the collateral. Securities are 

initially stated at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.

6.5 Fair values
The table below provides an overview of the carrying value and fair value of financial instruments, including IFRS treatment, 

and the level in the valuation hierarchy the instruments are measured at fair value.

/notes-consolidated-financial-statements/6-6-accounting-policies-financial-instruments#node
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Carrying amount Fair value

(EUR million) Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017 Hierarchy

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

- Account- and other receivables 5.4 438 480 438 480 Level 3

- (Other) financial assets 5.3 375 655 375 655 Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 71 61 71 61 Level 1

Total 884 1,196 884 1,196

Financial liabilities

Borrowings:

- Borrowings 6.3 2,189 1,786 2,194 1,793 Level 3

- Account- and other payables 5.5 233 247 233 247 Level 3

- Other financial liabilities 71 61 71 61 Level 3

Total 2,493 2,094 2,498 2,101

As at 31 December 2018, no instruments carried at fair value were held (2017: nil). Furthermore, we concluded that the fair 

value of the loans and receivables, cash and cash equivalents, account- and other payables, and other financial liabilities 

approximate their carrying amounts at year end 2018, due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The following hierarchy by valuation technique are used in calculating the fair value of assets and liabilities:

• Level 1: Measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2: Measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

• Level 3: Measurement based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs).

The fair value of the level 2 borrowings is based on discounted cash flows. A change in the assumptions used to calculate 

the fair value will not result in a significantly different outcome. There were no transfers between the fair value hierarchy levels 

during 2018.

6.6 i Accounting policies for financial instruments
Financial assets  

Financial assets in general are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The investments in TenneT GmbH & Co. KG is 

recognised at fair value. TenneT's other financial assets are subsequently classified as amortised cost, because the following 

two conditions are met:  

• The financial asset are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 

cash flows.   

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.    

 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to 

impairment. 

 

TenneT recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for financial assets. ECLs are based on the difference 

between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that TenneT expects to 

receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. For trade receivables and contract assets, 

TenneT applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, TenneT does not track changes in credit risk, but 

instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.  
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Financial liabilities  

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 

attributable transaction costs. TenneT's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 

bank overdrafts. 

 

After initial recognition at fair value, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 

through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 

acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. EIR amortisation is included as finance expense in the 

statement of profit or loss.

6.7 Financial risk management
Our business activities are exposed to a number of financial risks such as interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 

refinancing risk, which are described in detail in this note. Our financial risk management strategy primarily focuses on 

protecting the liquidity, equity capital and net result in order to safeguard our ability to continue active operations while 

providing an adequate return to our shareholders. Our approach to managing financial risks, including a number of specific 

disclosures (such as a maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted financial obligations) required by accounting standards, 

are set out in this note. For details about our regulatory risk we refer to the 'Risk Management' section of the Management 

Board report.

Risk management related to financing activities is conducted by our Treasury department under policies approved by our 

Management Board. Our financial risk management objectives, policies and processes remained unchanged in 2018 

compared to 2017. The Treasury department's objective is to facilitate the realisation of our financial and strategic objectives 

from a funding and financial risk perspective. Our Management Board has approved the Treasury Statute. The Treasury 

Statute includes principles covering specific areas such as interest rate risk, liquidity risk, the use of derivatives, and the 

investment of excess liquidity. The use of all ordinary course financial instruments is permitted, provided these are used solely 

to cover open positions. Any speculative use of financial instruments is expressly not authorised. Our Management Board 

has also approved specific risk management solutions such as the issuance of new debt capital market instruments.

Interest rate risk 

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our debt portfolio. To limit the interest rate risk, our policy is to base the majority of 

our loan portfolio on fixed interest rates. As of 31 December 2018, the long-term loan portfolio was entirely based on fixed 

interest rates. An increase or decrease in interest rates of 2 percentage points would result in an increase or decrease in 

TenneT's net interest cost (2017: EUR nil) results from short-term loans.

Furthermore, there is a risk that interest payable on borrowings exceeds the interest compensation by TenneT under the 

prevailing regulatory systems. The ACM has set the relevant interest rate which will linearly decrease from 3.58% in 2016 to 

2.29% in 2021.

Credit risk 

In general we are exposed to the risk of loss resulting from counterparties’ defaulting on their commitments including failure 

to pay or make a delivery on a contract. Our exposure to credit risk from its operating activities and treasury activities is 

inherent in our business activities.

Operational credit risk 

In respect of our operating activities, TenneT has a credit policy in place, which takes into account the risk profiles of the 

counterparties. TenneT has policies in place to monitor the financial viability of counterparties.

We are responsible for maintaining the balance between supply and demand of energy. The associated costs are covered by 

income from parties with balance responsibility, which are charged for any imbalances attributable to them. Any surplus is 

deducted from the tariffs for system services. For certain situations, securities in the form of bank guarantees and collaterals 

are held as protection against the parties with balance responsibility defaulting.  
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Also with respect to the investment projects, we require certain counterparties to deliver bank guarantees or collaterals as a 

protection against defaults.  

The management of energy exchanges and the maintenance of the energy balance between supply and demand requires 

handling of large cash flows. TenneT's policies are aimed at minimising the risks associated with the clearing transactions of 

these cash flows.

Credit risk on trade and other receivables is limited, because most trade and other debtors have a low risk of default. TenneT 

has no material collateral as security and no insurance for credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 

date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in note 5.3 and 5.4. The movement of the bad debt 

provision is included in note 5.4.1. 

 

The provision rates for expected credit losses are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with 

similar loss patterns (such as customer type). Any expected credit losses for of balance sheet commitments will also be 

provided. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 

supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 

economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables and other financial assets are written-off if there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. TenneT considers a financial asset in default when contractual 

payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, TenneT may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 

internal or external information indicates that TenneT is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 

taking into account any credit enhancements held by TenneT.  

Financial credit risk 

In 2018 financial credit risk arose mainly from our transactions and positions with financial institutions. As at 31 December 

2018, the maximum credit risk was EUR nil (2017: nil). 

In accordance with our treasury policies, counterparty credit exposure is monitored frequently against the counterparty credit 

limits. We have concentration limits in place when funds are placed on deposit or when financial derivatives are arranged. At 

31 December 2018 we did not have any deposits with third parties (2017: nil).

Management does not expect any significant losses from non-performance by treasury counterparties.

Liquidity risk 

       Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that TenneT cannot meet its short-term financial obligations. TenneT's objective when 

managing liquidity is to be able to meet its short-term obligations at all times. Liquidity is monitored every month on a rolling 

12-month forward-looking basis.

The following maturity schedule presents our financial obligations on a contractual non-discounted basis:

(EUR million) Notes <1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years

More than 
5 years Total

At 31 December 2018

Borrowings 6.3 4 8 36 193 2,356 2,597

Account- and other payables 5.5 226 4 2 1 - 233

Other financial liabilities 71 - - - - 71

Total 301 12 38 194 2,356 2,901

At 31 December 2017

Borrowings 6.3 4 7 30 162 1,913 2,116

Account- and other payables 5.5 235 - 12 - - 247

Other financial liabilities 61 - - - - 61

Total 300 7 42 162 1,913 2,424
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The financing arrangement with TenneT Holding B.V. is such that management expects that all substantial adverse financial 

developments and events can reasonably be expected to be accommodated and that continuation of day-to-day operations 

is ensured for at least 12 months.  No security interest over any of TenneT's assets has been provided. All credit facilities 

have floating-rate interest conditions.

We expect to meet our financial obligations for 2019 with (i) cash and cash equivalents, (ii) funds from operations (iii) unused 

credit facilities, (iv) capital contribution from the Dutch State and (v) capital market transactions provided by TenneT Holding 

B.V.. We expect to meet our financial obligations for the subsequent years through various capital market transactions and 

intend to manage future refinancing risks by spreading the tenors of new financing arrangements. Furthermore, we plan to 

increase our equity capital in the short to medium-term.
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7. OTHER DISCLOSURES
Other mandatory disclosures which are not directly related to our business are 
described in this note.

7.1 Other commitments and contingencies
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Grid-related commitments 665 803

Guarantees issued 2 2

Other off-balance sheet commitments 26 26

Total off-balance sheet obligations 693 831

Off-balance sheet rights

Government guarantees received 300 300

Total off-balance sheet rights 300 300

The grid-related commitments and other off-balance sheet commitments are equal to the amounts in the above table. For 

guarantees issued no cash flows are expected.

7.1.1 Grid related commitments

Grid-related commitments include the unused auction receipts in the Netherlands amounting to EUR 555 million (2017: EUR 

646 million). We sell cross-border transport capacity through auctions. In the Netherlands, the received cash is restricted and 

must be used to reduce future tariffs. Also the grid related commitments include the energy and capacity commitments 

amounting to EUR 109 million (2017: EUR 157 million).

7.1.2 Guarantees issued

TenneT TSO B.V. issued bank guarantees for an amount of EUR 2 million (2017: EUR 2 million).

7.1.3 Government guarantees received

A written put option -with an exercise price of EUR 375 million and an original term of 10 years until February 2020- obliges 

TenneT Orange B.V. to buy the participation in TenneT TSO Duitsland B.V. held by the foundation 'Beheer Doelgelden 

Landelijk Hoogspanningsnet' when it is offered. TenneT Orange B.V.’s obligation is substantially covered by a guarantee 

issued by the Dutch State for an amount of EUR 300 million.

7.1.4 Other

We receive certain claims from our customers, a portion of which relate to refunds of transmission services which we believe 

are unlikely to prevail in court. Also there are various other off-balance sheet commitments and contingencies as well as 

other off-balance sheet rights which are not large enough to warrant separate disclosure.

7.2 Related parties
The following related parties are part of the TenneT Holding Group. For an overview of legal entities that are included in the 

consolidated financial statements, reference is made to note 7.3. Other material related parties are the State of the 

Netherlands: TenneT Holding B.V. is controlled by the Dutch State, which owns 100% of the Parent Company’s ordinary 

shares;

Related party Legal seat Country

TenneT Holding B.V. Arnhem Netherlands
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Relined B.V. Utrecht Netherlands

Relined GmbH Emsbüren Germany

TenneT Orange B.V. Arnhem Netherlands

TenneT TSO Duitsland B.V. Arnhem Netherlands

TenneT Duitsland Coöperatief U.A. Arnhem Netherlands

TenneT Verwaltungs GmbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth Germany

TenneT TSO GmbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore GmbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 1. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 2. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 4. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 7. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 8. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore 9. Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore Dolwin 3 Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore Dolwin 3 GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth Germany

TenneT Offshore Dolwin 3 Verwaltungs GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Netz GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Netz BorWin3 GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Netz DolWin4 GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Netz HelWin1 GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Netz SylWin2 GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Nordseekabel Beteiligungs GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Nordseekabel Management GmbH Bayreuth Germany

DC Nordseekabel GmbH & Co. KG Bayreuth Germany

TransTenneT B.V. Arnhem Netherlands

TenneT Green B.V. Arnhem Netherlands

WL Winet B.V. Vianen Netherlands

WL Winet GmbH Emsbüren Germany

Holding des Gestionnaires de Réseaux de Transport d'Électricité S.A.S Parijs Frankrijk

EPEX SPOT S.E. Luxemburg Luxemburg

Open Tower Company B.V. Vianen Netherlands

Colonne B.V. Vianen Netherlands

Mobile Radio Networks Vehicle B.V. Vianen Netherlands

OTCII B.V. Vianen Netherlands

NOVEC B.V. Vianen Netherlands

Omroepmasten B.V. Vianen Netherlands

Duvekot Rentmeesters B.V. Bathmen Netherlands

NOVEC GmbH Emsbüren Germany

Nlink International B.V. Arnhem Netherlands

BritNed Development Ltd. London
United 

Kingdom

Report in accordance with article 18 paragraph 3 of the electricity act 1998. 

The relationship between TenneT TSO B.V. and its related parties within the TenneT Holding Group is  compliant with the 

requirements of article 18 paragraph 1 of the electricity act 1998. The related parties perform the activities the transmission 

system operator is not allowed to in accordance with article 17a of the electricity act 1998. This implies TenneT TSO B.V. 

does not provide benefits to group companies which are not awarded to third parties nor does it provide group companies 

with other benefits exceeding normal trade practice. The following items are considered as benefits to group companies or 

awarding benefits exceeding normal trade practice:
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• Providing a group company with data relating to customers, not being customers as included in article 95a paragraph 1 

of  the electricity act 1998, who have made a request as meant in article 23 or 24 of the electricity act 1998;

• Providing goods or services to a group company at a price lower than the reasonably attributable costs; or

• Allowing the use of the name and logo of the transmission system operator in a way that could confuse the public 

regarding the origin of goods and services.

7.3 Consolidated subsidiaries
The following legal entities are included in the consolidation of TenneT TSO B.V:

Voting interest Economic interest

Subsidiary Legal seat Country 2018 2017 2018 2017

B.V. Transportnet Zuid-Holland Voorburg Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100% *

CertiQ B.V. Arnhem Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100%

Nadine Netwerk B.V. Arnhem Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100% *

Saranne B.V. Arnhem Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100% *

Stichting Beheer Doelgelden Landelijk Hoogspanningsnet Arnhem Netherlands 100% 100% N/A N/A

* For these companies TenneT has issued a declaration of liability as referred to in Book 2, Part 9, Section 403 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

As we can exercise direct control over its management and financial and operational policies. The consolidation includes the 

foundation Stichting Beheer Doelgelden Landelijk Hoogspanningsnet. This foundation temporarily manages funds arising 

from the maintenance of the energy balance and auctioning of capacity by TenneT TSO B.V. 

7.4 Events after the reporting period
No significant events after the reporting period occurred.
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Company statement of income
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Notes 2018 2017

Revenue 9.1 803 814

Grid expenses 3.2.1 -433 -298

Personnel expenses 3.2.2 -89 -82

Depreciation and amortisation of assets 9.5, 9.6 -190 -140

Other operating expenses 9.2 -86 -118

Other gains/(losses) 9.5, 9.6 -22 -2

Total operating expenses -820 -640

Share in (loss)/profit of joint ventures and associates 3 1

Operating profit -14 175

Finance income 9.3 14 14

Finance expenses 9.4 -31 -29

Finance result -17 -15

Profit before income tax -31 160

Income tax expense 21 -40

Profit from participating interests -3 -

Profit for the year -13 120

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of ordinary shares -13 119

Profit for the year -13 119
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Company statement of financial position
For the year ended 31 December (EUR million)

Assets Notes 2018 2017

Non-current assets

Tangible fixed assets 9.5 4,409 3,730

Intangible assets 9.6 58 41

Investments in subsidiaries 9.7 602 605

Joint ventures and associates 5.2 3 1

Other financial assets 9.8 445 783

Total non-current assets 5,517 5,160

Current assets

Inventories 5 6

Account- and other receivables 9.9 449 506

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 71 61

Total current assets 525 573

Total assets 6,042 5,733

Equity and liabilities Notes 2018 2017

Equity

Paid-up and called capital 100 100

Share premium reserve 1,380 1,380

Retained earnings 1,387 1,272

Revaluation reserve 43 54

Reserve for internally generated intangible assets 25 10

Unappropriated result -13 120

Total equity 9.10 2,922 2,936

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 6.3 2,114 1,711

Contract liabilities 9.11 254 234

Deferred tax liability 9.12 114 167

Provisions 9.13 16 11

Total non-current liabilities 2,498 2,123

Current liabilities

Provisions 9.13 28 35

Other financial liabilities 9.15 71 61

Account- and other payables 9.14 523 578

Total current liabilities 622 674

Total equity and liabilities 6,042 5,733
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Notes to the company fi-
nancial statements
These notes contain information about the company financial statements of TenneT 
TSO B.V. as well as a description of the specific accounting policies applied when 
compiling these company financial statements are described.

8.1 Company accounting policies
The company financial statements for TenneT TSO B.V. have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9, 

Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. The same principles governing valuation and the determination of results (including the 

principles governing the classification of financial instruments as equity or liability) have been applied when compiling the 

company financial statements and the consolidated financial statements, as permitted by Article 2:362, clause 8 of the 

Netherlands Civil Code. 

 

       ECL provisions for receivables from subsidiaries will be eliminated as intercompany positions. As a result changes in these 

ECL provisions will not impact the carrying amounts of the financial assets in the company statement of the financial position.  

8.2 Investments in subsidiaries
The investments in subsidiaries are measured at net asset value. The net asset value of a participating interest is determined 

by valuing the assets, provisions and liabilities and calculating the result using the accounting principles applied to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Following the formation of TenneT as the national high voltage grid operator, TenneT TSO has acquired subsidiaries that 

formally own components of the onshore grid in the Netherlands. For legal reasons, these entities still exist and continue to 

own the grid assets. Within the TenneT TSO group, all revenues and expenses of these entities are charged to TenneT TSO 

BV. under the provisions of intercompany arrangements. All entities are part of the same fiscal unity for income tax purposes.

When the company’s share of losses in an investment equals or exceeds our interest in this investment, (including separately 

presented goodwill or any other unsecured non-current receivables, as part of the net investment), we do not recognise any 

further losses, unless we have incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of this investment.In 

this case TenneT TSO B.V. will recognise a provision.
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9 ITEMS OF THE COMPANY 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
9.1 Revenue

(EUR million) 2018 2017

Connection and transmission services 594 627

Maintenance of energy balance 72 58

Operation of energy exchanges 99 85

Other 38 44

Total 803 814

9.2 Other operating expenses
The other operating expenses comprise of EUR 32 million(2017: EUR 41 million) for amortisation and depreciation of 

subsidiaries. For further disclosure regarding other operating expenses we refer to the consolidated financial statements 

(note 3.2.3).

9.3 Finance income
The result on finance income is mainly related to the interest received on a participation in TenneT TSO Duitsland B.V. The 

intercompany agreements are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

9.4 Finance expenses
The finance expenses mainly relate to the interest on borrowings from the parent.

9.5 Tangible fixed assets

(EUR million)
High-voltage 
substations

High-voltage 
connections Other assets

Assets under 
construction Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 1,339 1,254 251 1,016 3,860

Additions - - - 729 729

Merger of subsidiaries 225 240 8 - 473

Transfers 208 203 5 -416 -

Disposals -3 - - - -3

At 31 December 2017 1,769 1,697 264 1,329 5,059

Additions - - - 841 841

Transfers 136 223 2 -361 -

Disposals - - - -22 -22

At 31 December 2018 1,905 1,920 266 1,787 5,878

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 474 495 71 - 1,040

Depreciation for the year 58 42 22 - 122

Merger of subsidiaries 89 75 4 - 168

Disposals -1 - - - -1

At 31 December 2017 620 612 97 - 1,329
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Depreciation for the year 69 50 21 - 140

At 31 December 2018 689 662 118 - 1,469

Net book value:

At 1 January 2017 865 759 180 1,016 2,820

At 31 December 2017 1,149 1,085 167 1,329 3,730

At 31 December 2018 1,216 1,258 148 1,787 4,409

For disclosure regarding material movements we refer to paragraph 4.1

9.6 Intangible assets

(EUR million) Goodwill Software
Customer 
contracts

Other 
intangible 

assets

Intangible 
assets under 
construction Total

Cost

At 1 January 2017 - 144 15 - 159

Merger of subsidiaries 1 - 42 - - 43

Transfers 7 - -7 -

Additions - - 7 7

At 31 December 2017 1 151 42 15 - 207

Transfers 36 - -36 -

Additions - - 35 35

At 31 December 2018 1 187 42 15 -1 244

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2017 - 120 - 4 - 124

Merger of subsidiaries - - 26 - - 26

Amortisation for the year - 16 2 - - 18

At 31 December 2017 - 136 28 4 - 168

Amortisation for the year - 15 3 - - 18

At 31 December 2018 - 151 31 4 - 186

Net book value:

At 1 January 2017 - 24 - 11 - 35

At 31 December 2017 1 15 14 11 - 41

At 31 December 2018 1 36 11 11 -1 58

At year-end all assets under construction are presented under the tangible fixed assets. When an asset is finalised it is 

determined what part relates to tangible fixed assets and intangible assets. At year-end an amount of approximately EUR 26 

million (2017: EUR 39 million) of the assets under construction relates to the intangible assets.

9.7 Investments in subsidiaries
The investments in subsidiaries relate to the legal entities included in the consolidation as disclosed in paragraph 7.3 of the 

consolidated financial statements.
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9.8 Other financial assets
Financial assets comprise of a receivable from the shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.)

9.9 Account- and other receivables
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Receivables from Shareholder (TenneT Holding B.V.) 280 350

Receivables from subsidiaries - 6

Receivables from other related parties 28 30

Trade receivables 71 77

Amounts to be invoiced 36 31

VAT receivable 7 -

Other 27 12

Total 449 506

9.10 Equity
The statement of changes in equity and disclosure to that statement are included in the consolidated financial statements.

The appropriation of profits is governed by Section 38.3 of the Articles of Association, which states: 'Subject to approval by 

the Supervisory Board, the Management Board may reserve a portion of any profit that may remain after application of the 

provisions of clause 2, sufficient in the Management Board’s view to finance capital expenditure to support fulfilment of the 

company’s statutory duties as grid administrator, such as maintenance, expansion and environmental management. Any 

profit which is not thus reserved shall be at the free disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders. When calculating the 

amount of profit to be paid out on each share, account shall be taken only of the sum of the obligatory call on the nominal 

value of the shares. In the event of a tied vote regarding the distribution or reservation of profits, the profit to which the 

proposal relates shall be reserved'.

(EUR million)

Reserve for 
internally 

generated 
intangible 

assets
Revaluation 

reserve
Total legal 

reserve

At 1 January 2018 10 54 64

Internally generated intangible assets 15 - 15

Depreciation revaluation tangible fixed assets - -11 -11

At 31 December 2018 25 43 68

In addition to the statement of changes in equity, a legal reserve was formed within shareholder equity for a revaluation of 

EUR 43 million (2017: EUR 54 million). 

The revaluation reserve serves to cover the revaluation of tangible fixed assets within TenneT TSO B.V.’s national high-voltage 

grid. Following the implementation of IFRS on 1 January 2004, the fair value exception provided for in IFRS 1 has been 

applied. This one-off exception allows tangible fixed assets to be stated at their fair value on the transition date. This figure 

has subsequently been used as the ‘deemed cost price’. The size of the revaluation reserve corresponds to that part of the 

restated value of the tangible fixed assets resulting from application of the fair value exception, less the deferred tax liability.

The legal reserves are not freely distributable.
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9.11 Contract liabilities
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Investment contributions 254 233

Other - 1

Total 254 234

9.12 Deferred tax liability
Statement of financial 

position Statement of income

(EUR million) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Auction receipts -125 -161 -37 -31

Investment contributions -58 -72 -14 -2

Tariffs to be settled 18 12 -6 33

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 47 50 3 -7

Provisions 3 3 - -1

Other 1 1 - -

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) -114 -167

Deferred tax expense/(income) -54 -8

For further disclosure regarding income tax we refer to the consolidated financial statements (note 3.5).

9.13 Provisions
For the movements in provisions we refer to the consolidated financial statements (note 5.6).

9.14 Account- and other payables
(EUR million) 2018 2017

Payables to related parties 310 357

Accounts payable 52 55

Taxes and social securities 7 6

Other payables 154 160

Total 523 578

Effective interest on the payables to related parties is 0.55% (2017: 0.55%). A list of all related parties can be found in 

paragraph 7.3 of the consolidated financial  statements. 

Other payables mainly comprise of personnel payables (EUR 16 million, 2017: EUR 16 million), invoices to be received (EUR 

48 million, 2017: EUR 38 million) and investment related payables (EUR 21 million, 2017: EUR 38 million).

9.15 Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities relate to collateral securities given by third parties to underwrite trading on energy exchanges and the 

auctioning of cross-border interconnection capacity.

9.16 Off-Balance sheet commitments
Details on the off-balance sheet commitments are included in the consolidated financial statements, see note 4.3 and note 

7.1.
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Arnhem, 18 February 2019

Management Board of TenneT TSO B.V. 

 

B.G.M. Voorhorst 

O.J. Jager

TenneT TSO B.V. 

Utrechtseweg 310 

6812 AR Arnhem 

Chamber of Commerce register 09083317
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Other information
Events after the reporting period

No significant events after the reporting period have occurred.

Independent auditor's report

See the following pages of this  annual report.
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Independent auditor's re-
port
To: the Shareholder and management of TenneT TSO B.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2018 included in the annual report
Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2018 of TenneT TSO B.V., based in Arnhem. The financial statements include the 

consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.

In our opinion: 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of TenneT TSO B.V. 

as at 31 December 2018, and of its result and its cash flows for 2018 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

• The accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of TenneT TSO B.V. as 

at 31 December 2018, and of its result for 2018 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

 The consolidated financial statements comprise:

• The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018

• The following statements for 2018: the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows

• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

The company financial statements comprise:

• The company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018

• The company statement of income for 2018

• The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our 

report.

We are independent of TenneT TSO B.V. in accordance with the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij 

assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and 

other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- 

en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Report on other information included in the annual report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other information that 

consists of:

• About TenneT TSO B.V.

• Management Board report

• Other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
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• Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements

• Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial 

statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. By performing 

these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 

720. The scope of the procedures performed is less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial 

statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the management board’s report in 

accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 

Civil Code.

Description of responsibilities for the financial statements
Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS 

and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the 

financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and 

circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial 

statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate 

audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all 

material errors and fraud.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The 

materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 

misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance 

with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 

internal control

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management
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• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going 

concern

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation

We communicate with management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.        

 

Arnhem, 19 February 2019 

 

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP 

 

 

Signed by P.A.E. Dirks
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ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS
ABP – Algemeen Burgerlijk Pensioenfonds
ABP, is the civil service pension fund for government, education and energy employees in the Netherlands.

AC – Alternating current
In alternating current (AC), the flow of electricity periodically reverses direction. By contrast direct current (DC), electricity only 

flows in one direction. AC is used to transport electricity over relatively shorter distances and DC for relatively longer 

distances.

ACM – Autoriteit Consument & Markt
The Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets protects the interests of consumers and businesses and specifically 

oversees the energy, telecommunication, transport and postal industries. This authority regulates the network operators in 

the electricity market and sets maximum transmission tariffs for the national grid operator’s system services and for the 

connections to the grid. The ACM creates conditions for a well-functioning national and international wholesale market.

Capex – Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures (Capex) is the amount spent on acquiring or improving long-term assets. Its benefits are enjoyed over a 

long time period, not only in the current year. Capex is of a non-recurring nature and results in the acquisition of permanent 

assets.

CGU – Cash generating unit
A cash-generating unit is the smallest group of assets that independently generates cash flow and whose cash flow is largely 

independent of the cash flows generated by other assets.

COBRA cable
A 275 km-long high-voltage direct current cable that is under construction to connect the Dutch and Danish electricity grids. 

It will have a capacity of 700 MW.

COSO – Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
COSO has established the common internal control model against which companies and organisations assess their control 

systems.

DC – Direct current
In direct current (DC), the flow of electricity is only in one direction. In alternating current (AC), the electricity flows periodically 

reverses direction. DC is used to transport electricity over relatively longer distances and AC for relatively shorter distances.

EBIT – Earnings before interest and tax
Profit for the period before income tax expense and interest payments are deducted.

ENTSO-E – European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity
ENTSO-E is the organisation of transmission system operators at a European level, representing 41 TSOs from 34 countries. 

Its mission is to promote important aspects of energy policy, especially integrating renewable energy and the completion of 

an internal energy market.

EU – European Union
The European Union (EU) is a political-economic union of 28 member states countries that are located in Europe

FTE – Full-time equivalent
Full-time equivalent is a unit that measures work by converting work load hours into the number of people required to 

complete that task.
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GW – Gigawatt
A unit of power equal to one billion watts.

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards
The internationally prescribed and recognised reporting guidelines.

kV – kilovolt
A unit of electric voltage equal to 1,000 volts.

LoR – Letter of Representation
A Letter of Representation is signed by the management of TenneT and/or performance unit to attest to the accuracy of the 

financial statements.

MW – Megawatt
A unit of power equal to one million watts.

NGO - Non-Governmental Organisation
A non-governmental organisation is a voluntary citizens' group that is neither a government initiative nor a conventional 

for-profit business.

NWE – North West Europe
A region in Europe that includes Netherlands, Germany, Belgium, Denmark, United Kingdom, France, Norway, Sweden, 

Finland and Luxembourg

TSO – Transmission system operator
A transmission system operator transports electricity on a national or regional level from producers to distributers. A TSO is 

responsible for providing (1) power transmission services, by constructing and maintaining a robust high-voltage grid, (2) 

system services, by maintaining the balance between supply and demand of electricity 24 hours a day, and seven days a 

week and (3) facilitating a smoothly functioning, liquid and stable electricity market.
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We look forward to receiving your feedback on this report, please send an email to communication@tennet.eu

Disclaimer
`We´, `TenneT´, `TenneT TSO, `the company´ or similar expressions are used in this report as a synonym for TenneT TSO B.V. 

and its subsidiaries.

Parts of this report contain forward-looking information. These parts may include unqualified statements on future operating 

results, government measures, the impact of other regulatory measures on the activities of TenneT as a whole, TenneT´s 

shares and those of its subsidiaries and joint-ventures in existing and new markets, industrial and macro-economic trends 

and TenneT´s performance in these. Such statements are preceded or followed by or contain words such as `believes´, 

`expects´, `anticipates´ or similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are based on current assumptions 

concerning future activities and are subject to known and unknown factors, and other uncertainties, many of which are 

beyond TenneT´s control, so that future actual results may differ significantly from these statements.

All financial information in this annual report is reported in millions of euro, unless stated otherwise. As a result, small 

rounding differences may occur.

http://www.tennet.eu

